Joint Transportation Committee

Long-Range Finances Final Report

Washington State Department of Transportation Ferries Division Financing Study II



Prepared For:

Joint Transportation Committee Washington State Legislature

Consultants:

Cedar River Group, LLC John Boylston RLCollier, LLC



Joint Transportation Committee Paul Neal

P.O. Box 40937 Olympia, WA 98504-0937 (360) 786-7327 neal.paul@leg.wa.gov

> Cedar River Group Kathy Scanlan

93 Pike Street, Suite 315 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 223-7660 x105

Kathy@cedarrivergoup.com

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
SECTION I. PURPOSE AND APPROACH	26
A. Purpose	
B. Ferries' Long-Range Plan	26
C. WSDOT Joint Development Opportunities Report	
D. Scope of Study	
E. Approach	28
F. Sources and Methods	
SECTION II. FERRIES' REVISED DRAFT LONG-RANGE PLAN	
A. Ridership	
B. Vehicle Level of Service Standard	
C. Operational and Pricing Strategies	32
SECTION III. REVISED DRAFT LONG-RANGE PLAN SCENARIO A	25
FINANCES OVERVIEW	
B. Capital Finances	
C. Operations Finances	
SECTION IV. CAPITAL PROGRAM	
A. Vessel Capital Expenses	
B. Terminal Capital Expenses	
C. Emergency Repairs	
D. Administration and Indirect Costs	
SECTION V. OPERATIONS	81
A. Vessel Operations Expenses	81
B. Management and Support Costs	84
SECTION VI. RECOMMENDED FINANCIAL PLAN AND POLICIES	88
A. Recommended Service Level	88
B. Capital Finances	
C. Operations Finances	
D. Financial Policies	89
List of Tables	
Table 1. Scenario A Financial Projection	36
Table 2. Capital Program Summary	37
Table 3. Vessel Capital Program Inflation Rate Assumptions	38
Table 4. Scenario A and Recommended Fleet Size & Composition	
Table 5. Vessel Timing and Retirement Scenario A and Recommended Fleet	
Table 6. Scenario A and Recommended Fleet Deployment	
Table 7. New Vessel Construction Recommended vs. Scenario A	
Table 8. Vessel Preservation Recommended vs. Scenario A	
Table 9. Vessel Improvement Recommended vs. Scenario A	

Table 10. Terminal Preservation Cost Estimating Review	61
Table 11. Terminal Preservation Recommended vs. Scenario A	64
Table 12. Recommended Reservations System Funding	67
Table 13. Terminal Improvement Recommended vs. Scenario A	70
Table 14 . Emergency Repair Recommended vs. Scenario A	74
Table 15 . Administration and Indirect Capital Recommended vs. Scenario A	80
Table 16. Operations Program Summary	81
Table 17 . Fuel Operations Costs Recommended vs. Scenario A	83
Table 18. Management and Support Operations Costs Recommended vs. Scenario A	85
Table 19. Recommended Financial Projection	89
List of Figures	
Figure 1. Ferries Finance Decision Model	28

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The 2007 Legislature directed the Joint Transportation Committee (JTC) to make recommendations regarding the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) Ferries Division (Ferries) capital financing strategies for consideration in the 2009 legislative session. The study was required to include: (1) confirming Ferries' estimate of future capital requirements based on a long-range capital plan; and (2) WSDOT's development of a plan for co-development and public-private partnerships at terminals.

This is the final report in a series that began with the January 2007 Phase I Ferry financing report. Phase I analyzed Ferries' 2006 long-range plan, identifying several issues with the planning and implementation. Following the Phase I report, the legislature enacted ESHB 2358, which incorporated a number of report recommendations directing Ferries to base its long-range capital plan on: (1) a revised ridership forecast; (2) a revised vehicle level of service standard; (3) operational and pricing strategies to fully utilize existing assets; and (4) revised terminal design standards. The 2007 Legislature also initiated Phase II of the Ferry Financing Study to resolve the issues identified in Phase I. That process produced recommendations incorporated in SSB 6932 in 2008.

This report is the final JTC report for the ferry financing phase II project. As directed it is a review of Ferries' long-range financing. That financing has two main components: revenue and expenditures. The legislature directed the Washington State Transportation Commission to evaluate Ferries' long-term revenues. That evaluation can be found in the Commission's *Ferry Funding Recommendations Final Report*, released March 2009. This report evaluates Ferries' projected expenditures.

This report is based on Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan 2009-2030*, although the scope differs from the long-range plan. Ferries' plan covers the 22-year period from FY 2010 to FY 2031. The legislature adopts budgets biennially based on a 16-year financial plan. Because this is a report to the legislature, it is limited to the first 16 years of Ferries' draft plan: FY 2010 through FY 2025. Another difference is the absence of alternative scenarios. Ferries' plan included two scenarios. Scenario A continued the current service level with some marginal changes and keeps the State as the primary funder of the ferry system. Scenario B, recognizing that the State may not be able to fund Scenario A, provided for reduced services, and contemplated local funding of passenger-only ferry service. This report focuses on Scenario A.

This report includes:

- *Recommendations* for actions that the consultants believe the legislature should take, and
- *Alternatives*, which are actions the legislature could take that would reduce costs while preserving service levels.

I. FERRIES' REVISED DRAFT LONG-RANGE PLAN – SERVICE PROPOSAL SUMMARY

As directed by the legislature, the JTC has participated in and reviewed the underlying assumptions in Scenario A of Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan*. For a more detailed discussion of the changes to those underlying assumptions that grew out of the Ferry financing study phase II process, see Appendix III.

A. Ridership Forecast – Risk Implications for Ferries' Long-Term Finances

In the 2005-07 biennium, fare revenues covered 77 percent of Ferries' operating expenses. Fare revenues are a function of ridership. Phase I of the ferry financing study identified issues with Ferries' ridership projections. Phase II included a forecasting workgroup that addressed those issues and reduced ridership growth projections by half. Ferries now projects a 21 percent increase in system ridership over the next 16 years. This projection, along with assumed average fare increases of 2.5 percent per year, produces the future operating revenue assumptions in the long-range plan. Even the revised ridership projections are not without risk, however.

The forecast predicts a reversal in the downward trend of ridership, which has fallen 12 percent between the FY 2000 peak and FY 2008. While fare increases may have played a role in the decline, the Washington State Transportation Commission's market survey indicates fare increases may not be the primary reason. With the reasons for the decline unclear, projections of its reversal are uncertain.² Given the risk that projected ridership will not materialize, the consultants make the following recommendations:

- *Recommendation #1.* The legislature should monitor Ferry ridership.
- **Recommendation** #2. The legislature should consider funding a marketing initiative.
- **Recommendation #3.** The legislature should not plan on transfers from the operating budget to support the capital budget.

B. Revised Vehicle Level of Service Standard – Adopt Capacity Based Standard

The Ferry financing studies questioned Ferries' traditional boat wait vehicle level of service standard.³ A boat wait standard encourages the delivery of service to meet peak period demand rather than offering a more balanced service, and more cost-efficient capital and operating costs. Ferries proposes to change its vehicle level of service standard from a boat wait to a percentage of sailings filled to capacity in the summer, spring, and winter standard. This will lead to a more cost-efficient balance of peak and non-peak service.

• **Recommendation** #4. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposed percentage of sailings filled to capacity approach to vehicle level of service.

¹ Ferries' 2006 long-range plan predicted ridership growth of 68 percent by 2030 with existing service. The *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* projects ridership growth of 36 percent by 2030.

² See *JTC Policy Work Group Status Report* in Appendix III for further information.

³ Boat wait is the number of sailings a customer would miss due to capacity constraints before being able to board.

C. Operational and Pricing Strategies – Maximize Use of Current Resources

ESHB 2358 directed Ferries to develop operational and pricing strategies to better manage demand and make the most efficient use of current assets. Ferries reviewed numerous potential operational and pricing strategies and recommended two types: strategies to increase walk-on use of ferries through transit enhancements and fare incentives for foot-passengers; and strategies to level peak vehicle demand through nosurcharge vehicle reservations. Both strategies will help maximize the use of existing vessel capacity by using under-filled passenger capacity and non-peak auto capacity.

- **Recommendation** #5. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposed operational and pricing strategies, including transit enhancements and fare incentives to increase walk-on use of ferries and no-surcharge vehicle reservations to level peak vehicle demand.
- **Recommendation #6.** The legislature should use the pre-design process⁴ to more thoroughly review the implementation of Ferries' proposed transit enhancements and reservation strategies.

D. Scenario A Service Level

Scenario A maintains existing sailings on all routes,⁵ increases vessel auto capacity on four (4) routes, and proposes to provide direct, rather than triangular service, between Fauntleroy–Vashon, Fauntleroy–Southworth, and Vashon–Southworth.

II. FERRIES' DRAFT LONG-RANGE PLAN – FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Both Ferries and the consultants agree that current revenue is not sufficient to fund Scenario A. The consultants' recommendations would produce a lower shortfall.

A. Ferries' Plan Projects \$2.4 Billion 16-Year Funding Shortfall

Ferries projects Scenario A will have a 16-year capital funding shortfall of \$2,188.8 million and an operations funding shortfall of \$261.0 million. Based on the ridership forecast and assumed 2.5 percent annual fare increases, Scenario A has a farebox recovery rate of 80 percent.⁶

B. Consultants' Recommendations Reduce 16-Year Funding Shortfall to \$0.65 Billion

The table below summarizes the consultants' recommendations, which would reduce the capital funding shortfall to \$534.0 million, reduce the operations shortfall to \$106.2 million, and increase farebox recovery to 83 percent. The additional options provided as

⁴ The pre-design process is a decision-making tool for major capital budget expenditures. A pre-design study, which is required before the legislature appropriates design and construction funding, investigates alternatives and assesses which best solves a specific problem and at what cost. ESHB 2358 requires a pre-design process for all terminal improvement projects and for terminal preservation projects over \$5.0 million.

⁵ Scenario A service level includes restoration of full service to the Port Townsend route, which has been reduced to one-boat service since the retirement of the Steel Electric class of vessels in late 2007.

⁶ Farebox recovery is the percentage of operations expenses that are covered by farebox and other associated revenues.

alternatives would reduce the capital shortfall to \$142.9 million, produce an operations surplus of \$13.7 million, and increase farebox recovery to 85 percent. The specific recommendations that produce the savings are discussed in more detail in the next sections.

Capital and Operations Funding 16-Year Summary

Oapital and Opera		umg re real	- aiiiiiai)
	Scenario A	Recommended	Change	Alternative (Cost Reductions)
Capital Plan		Recommended	Onlango	rtoddotionsy
Vessel Construction	1,473.8	514.0	-959.8	-313.0
Vessel Preservation	820.3	620.8	-199.5	-19.3
Vessel Improvement	60.9	53.7	-7.2	-1.0
Sub-total Vessels	2,355.0	1,188.5	-1,166.5	-333.3
Terminal Preservation	860.3	672.7	-187.6	-2.1
Terminal Improvement	390.9	165.0	-225.9	-55.7
Sub-total Terminals	1,251.2	837.7	-413.5	-57.8
Emergency Repairs	77.3	46.0	-31.3	
Administration & Indirect	225.4	181.9	-43.6	
Debt Service	212.1	212.1	0.0	
Total Capital Expenditures	4,121.0	2,466.2	-1,654.8	-391.1
Capital Revenues	1,932.2	1,932.2		
Funding Gap	-2,188.8	-534.0	1,654.8	-142.9
Fuel (Nov. forecast)	747.5	720.9	-26.6	
Fixed Vessel Costs	1,072.7	1,034.6	-38.1	-39.1
Variable Vessel Costs	1,125.2	1,119.2	-6.0	
Sub-total Vessels	2,945.4	2,874.7	<i>-70.7</i>	-39.1
Terminal Costs	717.0	717.0	0.0	
Management & Support Costs	640.8	<i>556.7</i>	-84.1	-80.8
Office of Financial Management				
Charges	0.8	0.8	0.0	
Marine Employees Commission	4.1	4.1	0.0	
Charges Sub Total Outside Agency Charges	4.1 4.9	4.1 4.9	0.0 0.0	
Sub-Total Outside Agency Charges			-154.8	-119.9
Total Expenditures Operations Revenues	4,308.1 4,047.1	4,153.3 4,047.1	-134.8	-119.9
	-261.0	-106.2	154.8	13.7
Funding Gap			154.8	
Farebox Recovery	80%	83%		85%

III. CAPITAL RECOMMENDATIONS - 16-YEAR PLAN

A. Vessels

1. Refine Vessel Cost Inflation Assumptions

Future cost projections must account for inflation. Previously, Ferries has used WSDOT's Construction Cost Index of approximately 2 percent per year for all capital expenditures. The *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* appropriately recognizes that shipbuilding and ship repair costs have risen faster than normal construction inflation and

4

uses a 4.7 percent per year inflation assumption based on the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) Non-Military Shipbuilding Index. The BLS Non-Military Ship Repair Index (3.75 percent per year) is a more appropriate index for vessel preservation, improvement and emergency repair projects.⁷

- **Recommendation** #7. In developing a financial plan for Ferries, the legislature should recognize that shipyard costs are rising at a faster rate than the general rate of construction inflation reflected in the WSDOT Construction Cost Index.
- Recommendation #8. The legislature should use the Bureau of Labor Statistics
 indexes for non-military ship construction and non-military ship repair for those
 portions of the vessel and emergency repair capital program that are for work
 done in commercial shipyards, and the WSDOT Construction Cost Index for staff
 and consultant costs.

2. New Vessel Construction – \$959.8 Million Recommended Savings

The consultants have concluded that Ferries' vessel replacement plan: adds one extra vessel to provide direct service on the Fauntleroy–Vashon–Southworth route unnecessarily; replaces vessels before they reach their planned retirement age; and deploys larger vessels than needed on certain routes. The consultants' \$959.8 million recommended savings over the 16-year planning horizon are a result of building fewer (5 rather than 9) and smaller (4 small vessels and 1 large vessel rather than 3 small vessels and 6 large vessels) vessels.

a. Recommendations:

- Service Level: To maintain current service levels, the consultants recommend the following.
 - o **Recommendation #9.** Ferries' Scenario A plan for a 22-vessel fleet to provide current service levels should be endorsed by the legislature.
 - O **Recommendation #10.** The legislature should not approve the Scenario A plan to add an additional vessel to the fleet to provide a fourth vessel on the Fauntleroy–Vashon–Southworth route. Ferries should either continue the triangle service or provide more direct service with the three vessels assigned to the route.
- Vessel Acquisition and Deployment: The JTC's Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report, April 2009, recommended that vessel acquisition be tied to the fleet's retirement schedule. The legislature should provide funding to retire the Rhododendron and Evergreen State, the two vessels in the fleet in most urgent need of retirement, and retire other vessels when due instead of early. In addition, the legislature should provide funding to restore full two-vessel service to Port Townsend and stop leasing the Steilacoom II from Pierce County.

⁷ The ship repair index is lower than the shipbuilding index because a higher percentage of repair work is labor versus commodities such as copper and steel that have experienced higher annual cost increases.

- o **Recommendation #11.** The legislature should fund the acquisition of five (5) new vessels in the 16-year financial plan period: four (4) small (64-auto Island Home class vessels) and one (1) large (144-auto) vessel.
- o **Recommendation #12.** The legislature should provide funding to acquire four new small vessels (64-auto Island Home class) in the 2010-2013 biennia and funding to construct a new large (144-auto) vessel in the 2023-25 biennium.
- Recommendation #13. The legislature's 16-year financial plan should assume the following deployments by 2025: Bainbridge–Bremerton routes four (4) vessels, including two (2) jumbo, one (1) large, and one (1) medium; Clinton two (2) medium vessels; Kingston two (2) jumbo vessels; Point Defiance one (1) small vessel; Port Townsend two (2) small vessels; San Juans and Sidney routes five (5) vessels, including three (3) large, one (1) medium, and one (1) small (summer); and the Fauntleroy–Southworth–Vashon Triangle route three (3) vessels, including one (1) medium and two (2) mid-size.
- **b. Alternatives:** Although the consultants do not recommend the following options, the legislature may want to consider the following additional cost cutting measures:
 - Consider eliminating the need to build one (1) new small vessel by deploying only one vessel on the Port Townsend route in the shoulder and summer seasons, which is the service that has been provided since the retirement of the Steel Electric class vessels in 2007.
 - Consider eliminating the need to build one (1) large vessel in the 2023-25 biennium by either: consolidating Sidney service with other San Juan service; purchasing a used foreign flagged vessel for the Sidney service; or re-building a Super class (144-auto) vessel.

3. Vessel Preservation – \$199.5 Million Recommended Savings

The consultants recommend a reduction of \$199.5 million in vessel preservation. This reduction is partially the result of constructing fewer and smaller vessels, and operating a 22- rather than a 23-vessel fleet.

- Constructability and delivery: Ferries significantly underspent the appropriated vessel preservation budget in the 2005-07 and 2007-09 biennia. This was due to vessel emergencies and because Ferries' capital plan does not consider the number of vessels out of service at one time.
 - o **Recommendation #14.** Vessel preservation planning should consider outof-service time and incorporate a review of whether the program can be constructed and delivered as planned.
 - o **Recommendation #15.** The legislature should reduce the vessel preservation program by 15 percent in the 16-year plan, pending a constructability and delivery review.

- *Out-of-service time:* As discussed in the two prior JTC vessel studies, ⁸ reducing planned out-of-service time from the current average of seven weeks per year per vessel to six by 2030 will help stabilize service and reduce the number of vessels needed to deliver service.
 - o **Recommendation #16.** Ferries should aggressively pursue reducing outof-service time, and the legislature should give priority to funding such reductions.
 - o **Recommendation #17.** Ferries should consider ways to reduce out-of-service time associated with Eagle Harbor Repair and Maintenance Facility vessel work, including the potential for double shifts.
 - o **Recommendation #18.** In developing its 16-year financial plan, the legislature should assume that topside painting will occur every 10 years and request Ferries to review whether passenger space renovations are necessary every 12 years on all routes.
 - o **Recommendation #19.** The legislature should increase funding for topside painting projects by 30 percent in order to permit funding of an accelerated painting schedule to reduce project out-of-service time.
- **Retirement schedule:** Prior JTC vessel studies recommended a cost-benefit analysis of extending the life of the Super class (144-auto) *Hyak* by rebuilding rather than retiring her in the 2010-15 time period. Ferries' long-range plan adopted this recommendation and now plans to retire the *Hyak* in 2031.
 - o **Recommendation #20.** The legislature should increase funding for the *Hyak* renovation to rebuild its motor for use in other Super class ferries if needed in order to reduce out-of-service time.
 - o **Recommendation #21.** The legislature should not provide preservation funding for the *Evergreen State* or the *Rhododendron*, but rather allow the Certificates of Inspection for these vessels to lapse.

4. Vessel Improvement – \$7.2 Million Recommended Reduction

Constructing fewer and smaller vessels (recommendations 11, 12, 13) and operating a 22-rather than a 23-vessel fleet (recommendations 9, 10) also allows a \$7.2 million reduction in vessel improvement costs over 16 years. The vessel improvement budget is largely a reserve for future improvements that may be necessary to meet U.S. Coast Guard or Clean Air Act regulatory requirements.

• **Recommendation** #22. The legislature should fund the fuel efficiency improvement on one of the Super class ferries in addition to the re-build of the *Hyak* (which will include a new propulsion engine) to minimize out-of-service time and to determine whether the modification is cost-effective.

⁸ Auto-Passenger Vessel Preservation and Replacement, January 2008 and Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report, April 2009.

- **Recommendation #23.** The legislature should not fund the fuel efficiency project proposed for the Issaquah class ferries because waste heat recovery has not proven to be a cost-effective fuel conservation investment.
- Recommendation #24. The legislature should appropriate \$50,000 for an analysis of the steering gear ventilation requirements for the Jumbo Mark II and Jumbo Mark I vessels rather than the \$1.0 million included in Scenario A in order to ensure legislative understanding of the costs and benefits associated with the proposed solution.

5. Vessel Capital Policy

Vessel planning improvements would reduce costs further.

- *Pre-design*. The pre-design process would provide the legislature with an opportunity to review assumptions and cost estimates for new vessels, and the costs and benefits of vessel improvements and preservation projects, before appropriating design and construction funds. ESHB 2358 requires a pre-design process for terminal improvement projects and for terminal preservation projects over \$5.0 million.
 - o **Recommendation #25:** The legislature should require a pre-design report for vessel construction and improvement projects and for vessel preservation projects over \$5.0 million.
 - o **Recommendation #26.** The legislature should require as part of the predesign process for new vessel construction a projection of out-of-service time and a life-cycle cost analysis of alternatives that would reduce planned out-of-service time. The life-cycle cost analysis should consider the impact on fleet size.
- New Vessel Construction Management and Design. The JTC's Capital Program Staffing and Administration Final Report, April 2008, recommended that Ferries review its engineering divisions to ensure core competency and a focus on vessel preservation. The corollary of this recommendation is that Ferries should not focus its staff on new vessel construction.
 - o **Recommendation** #27. Ferries and the legislature should consider existing designs prior to launching new designs for vessels, consider third party management of new vessel design and construction, and ensure that the design-build process is integrated with the pre-design report process and used effectively to expedite vessel design and construction at minimum cost to the state.

B. Terminals

1. Terminal Cost Estimating Overstates Costs

WSDOT and Ferries' policy requires bringing projects in under- or on-budget. This policy may have produced the unintended result of systemic over-estimating of project costs.

After reviewing a number of cost estimates,⁹ the consultants found consistent cost overstatement because Ferries uses excessive percentage allowances for preliminary engineering, construction engineering, and contingencies. Budgeted amounts also exceed the scope estimates because projects that would logically be done together are separately budgeted.

- **Recommendation #28.** Ferries should revise its terminal cost estimating procedures to provide more consistent and tighter cost estimating, including an internal control to ensure that unit prices and the application of design and other allowances are reasonable.
- **Recommendation #29.** Ferries should revise its budget development process to ensure that: terminal sub-projects are reviewed for constructability, with cost reductions for combining WINS into single construction projects incorporated in the capital 16-year plan; and that the capital budget reflects the scoping estimates.
- **Recommendation #30.** Ferries should revise its capital construction performance goals to encourage the development of reasonable project cost estimates.

2. Terminal Preservation – \$187.6 Million Recommended Savings

The consultants recommend a \$187.6 million reduction in terminal preservation funding, which includes the \$140.0 million reduction from the consultants' revisions to the preservation WINS.

The terminal life cycle cost model divides terminal assets into two categories, the second of which (Category 2) includes assets that are less critical to terminal operations, such as tie-up slips and upland assets. Ferries' performance goal for terminal Category 2 assets is a preservation needs percentage (PNP)¹⁰ of 20 percent to 40 percent. Under Scenario A, at the end of the 16-year financial plan, the PNP would be 6 percent, which indicates an over investment in Category 2 preservation.

- **Recommendation #31.** The legislature should approve project funding at a level consistent with the revised cost estimates for the 22 terminal preservation WINS reviewed by the consultants.
- **Recommendation** #32. The legislature should reduce Category 2 terminal preservation funding in order to bring the 16-year plan closer to the performance goal for these assets, by reducing lower priority Category 2 investments, reducing the uplands paving program by 50 percent, and by not preserving the passenger-only vessel facilities at Eagle Harbor.

-

⁹ The consultants reviewed 22 cost estimates for terminal preservation sub-projects or WINS (work order identification numbers) and 22 terminal improvement WINS. Of the 22 improvement WINS, 20 were for terminal security improvement projects.

¹⁰ Preservation needs percentage is the percentage of systems that are not preserved within the projected replacement period.

3. Terminal Improvements – \$225.9 Million Recommended Savings

The consultants recommend a \$225.9 million reduction in terminal improvement funding, including changes from the consultants' revisions to the terminal improvement WINS.

a. Recommendations

- Programmatic improvements. Programmatic improvements occur at a number of terminals and include stormwater, reservations, seismic, phone, emergency generators, smart card, and ADA improvements. Prior to 2008 it was difficult to analyze these improvements because the costs were included in systemwide projects. ESHB 2358 required systemwide project costs to be allocated to specific terminals for greater transparency. Specific recommendations for changes to Ferries' planned programmatic improvements are:
 - o **Recommendation #33.** The legislature should not fund the stormwater improvements program, but rather provide funding for stormwater projects as part of the funding of terminal preservation or improvement projects.
 - o **Recommendation #34.** The legislature should include in its 16-year plan funding for Ferries' revised reservation program.
 - o **Recommendation** #35. The legislature should decrease funding for terminal security improvements to Ferries' revised level.
 - o **Recommendation #36.** The legislature should increase funding for terminal seismic improvements to provide a placeholder for additional improvements resulting from Ferries' ongoing seismic surveys.
 - o **Recommendation** #37. The legislature should not fund emergency generators at small terminals where minimal revenue is at risk during power outages, instead continuing to rely on vessel shore power during landside power outages.
- *Dwell time improvements*. Dwell time improvements are intended to reduce the time it takes to load and unload vessels as ridership grows. As discussed in recommendations 1, 2 and 3, future ridership growth is uncertain.
 - o **Recommendation #38.** The legislature should not fund dwell time improvements until the impact of operational and pricing strategies on ridership is known.
- *Transit enhancements*. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposal to encourage greater transit use. However, funding decisions should be based on changes in ridership patterns and the availability of local transit service opportunities.
 - Recommendation #39. The legislature should not fund transit capital improvements at terminals until the impact of operational and pricing strategies on walk-on ridership is known and until the availability of transit service is assessed.

Terminal Relocation and Replacement. The relocation of the Mukilteo terminal, which includes bow loading for expedited loading and unloading, is the largest terminal improvement project in Scenario A at \$138.1 million,. A January 2008 Ferries analysis of alternatives for the Mukilteo terminal notes that bow loading is a requirement for three (3) vessel service on the route. Two (2) vessel service is proposed for the Mukilteo route in Scenario A. The consultants also reviewed the cost estimate for the Mukilteo terminal and concluded that, without bow loading, the terminal relocation project should cost \$91.8 million rather than \$138.1 million. The consultants also identified other non-essential improvement projects.

- o *Recommendation #40*. The legislature should provide funding for the relocation of the Mukilteo terminal without bow loading.
- o **Recommendation #41.** The legislature should not fund non-essential terminal improvement projects at Anacortes and Lopez, ¹² and should move superfund site monitoring at Eagle Harbor to the operations budget.

b. Alternatives

Although not recommended by the consultants, the legislature may want to consider the following additional cost cutting measures. The Mukilteo terminal could be preserved at its existing location rather than being re-located, which would save \$28.3 million. Preserving the Anacortes terminal by re-roofing it rather than re-building it would save \$26.6 million.

4. Terminal Policy Recommendations

- **Joint Development Opportunities.** Ferries' terminals represent valuable real estate that could produce revenue through the use of joint development opportunities.
 - o **Recommendation #42.** The legislature should endorse the findings of the *Analysis of Joint Development Opportunities at Washington State Ferry Terminals: Final Report* and provide funding for WSDOT to pursue the identified development opportunities.
- *Terminal Project Management*. Major terminal projects require specialized skills for management and delivery. Because of their relative infrequency, it may not be cost-effective to develop that expertise within Ferries.
 - Recommendation #43. The legislature and Ferries should consider third party management of major terminal projects, defined as those that exceed \$50.0 million.

¹¹ Mukilteo Multimodal Ferry Terminal Cost Reduction Alternative Option Development (Draft), January 17, 2008.

¹² The Anacortes projects are a sign bridge and improvements to the concession storage building, and the Lopez project is an exit walkway.

5. Emergency Repairs – \$31.3 Million Recommended Savings

The *Evergreen State* and *Rhododendron*, the vessels in the fleet that have the most emergency repairs, will retire at the end of the 2009-11 biennium (recommendation 21). These retirements should greatly reduce the need for emergency repair funding.

• **Recommendation #44.** The legislature should plan on emergency repair funding in the 2009-11 biennium that would equal the projected 2007-09 level for non-retired vessels and terminals, and adjust funding levels in anticipation of the retirement of the *Rhododendron* and the *Evergreen State* at the end of the 2009-11 biennium.

6. Administration and Indirect Costs – \$43.6 Million Recommended Savings

The consultants recommend a total reduction in administration and indirect capital costs of \$43.6 million. Of this \$43.6 million, \$3.3 million is a reduction in administration, \$9.6 million is a reduction in vessel indirect costs, and \$30.7 million is a reduction in terminal indirect costs.

- Calculation of administration and indirect costs. The consultants found that Ferries, in developing its administration and indirect cost budgets, had not adjusted carry-forward amounts for one-time expenses (i.e., costs that occur during the 2009-11 biennium but should not re-occur) and had included some specific terminal or vessel project costs.
 - o **Recommendation #45.** The legislature should adjust carry-forward amounts for one-time expenses in the administration and indirect support costs when developing its 16-year financial plan.
 - o **Recommendation #46.** The legislature should not fund specific terminal or vessel costs as part of administration and indirect costs, but rather accommodate those costs within terminal and vessel projects.
- *Administration*. These costs are for legal, budget, human resources, accounting, planning, and communications. The consultants found that the financial plan included carry-forward of one-time costs, and identified some further opportunities for cost reductions.
 - o **Recommendation #47.** The legislature should plan on capital administration costs of \$96.4 million in developing its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$3.3 million from Scenario A.
- Terminal Indirect Costs. These costs are for project controls, technical support, planning and design standards, engineering studies, regulatory compliance, and administration and office support. The consultants found that terminal indirect costs are a much higher percentage of terminal capital costs (7 percent) than vessel indirect costs are of vessel capital costs (3 percent). The higher terminal indirect costs are in part because terminals has a project controls section, which

has expertise that could be shared with vessels, and because terminals is carrying a large budget for implementation of the WSDOT Project Management and Report System.

- o **Recommendation #48.** The legislature should allocate project control section staff costs between vessel and terminal indirect costs when developing its 16-year financial plan.
- o **Recommendation #49.** The legislature should not fund implementation of the WSDOT Project Management Reporting System in Ferries.
- o **Recommendation #50.** The legislature should plan on terminal indirect costs of \$55.7 million in developing its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$30.7 million from Scenario A.
- Vessel Indirect Costs. These costs are for life cycle cost model support, environmental studies, planning and design, technical support, noise control, and administration and office support. Vessel indirect costs are increased by transferring half the terminal project controls staff budget. This increase is offset by other reductions, the largest of which are in vessel planning and design, environmental studies, noise control abatement, supervision and office support, and implementation of the life cycle cost model.
 - o **Recommendation #51.** The legislature should plan on vessel indirect costs of \$29.7 million over its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$9.6 million from Scenario A.

IV. OPERATIONS RECOMMENDATIONS – 16-YEAR PLAN

A. Vessel Operations – \$70.7 Million Recommended Savings

The consultants recommend a reduction of \$70.7 million in the vessel operations budget. Most of this reduction is the result of building fewer and smaller vessels, and deploying smaller vessels on some routes.

- *Fuel.* Ferries' financial stability has been impacted by volatility in fuel prices. Managing fuel costs is critical for managing operations costs. Ferries is working to implement the JTC's *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report* recommendation to slow vessels by 0.5 knot to 1.0 knot to conserve fuel.
 - o **Recommendation #52.** The legislature in developing its 16-year financial plan should assume fuel conservation savings from slowing vessels on average 0.5 knot in the summer and 0.75 knot the rest of the year.
 - o **Recommendation #53.** The legislature should endorse the concept of a fuel surcharge to stabilize Ferries' operations finances provided that Ferries provides the legislature with a plan for determining and applying the surcharge, and that Ferries reviews operational strategies to reduce fuel consumption before applying the surcharge.

B. Management and Support Costs - \$84.1 Million Recommended Savings

Management and support costs in Scenario A were based on the 2007 route statement. The 2007 route statement did not include: policy changes regarding charging other WSDOT program expenses to Ferries (specifically Executive Management and Information Technology), nor total staffing costs. Basing credit card fee charges and fleet insurance costs on the 2007 route statement meant that these costs were not properly adjusted for revenue and fleet changes. Ferries' proposed management and support budget also included the total cost for implementation of a reservation system in the 2009-11 biennium, before the system will be fully operational, and other WSDOT expenses that will not be charged to Ferries.

Recommendation

o **Recommendation #54.** The legislature should adopt the policy proposed in the Governor's 2009-11 biennium budget of not charging the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account for expenses incurred by WSDOT Executive Management (Program S) and Information Technology Services (Program C).

Alternative

The JTC's *Management and Support Costs Final Report* recommended reconsideration of the marine insurance program. The legislature could consider eliminating the property coverages, which would save \$90.1 million. The legislature could also consider funding a marketing program, which the consultants estimate would cost \$9.3 million or 0.3 percent of projected farebox revenue over the 16-year financial plan period.

V. RECOMMENDED FINANCIAL POLICIES

- Vessel Replacement Reserve. The timely replacement of vessels as they come due for retirement is critical to the provision of stable service and is the biggest financial challenge faced by Ferries. Under the recommended financial plan, commencing with the 2023-2025 biennium, Ferries will need to build six (6) 144-auto passenger vessels to replace the retiring Evergreen State class and Super class vessels. Following these replacements Ferries will need to replace the two Jumbo Mark I class vessels (188-auto) and six Issaquah class vessels (124-auto/Sealth 90-auto) between 2031 and 2045. A vessel replacement reserve fund would set aside funding to replace vessels and stabilize Ferries' finances.
 - o **Recommendation #55.** The legislature should consider the establishment of a vessel replacement fund that would set aside funds for the periodic replacement of vessels.
- **Zero Base Operations Budget.** The State usually uses incremental budgeting for operations, i.e., starting with the last budget as a base, to develop future budgets. This approach has become very complex for Ferries because of the changes in fleet composition.

- o **Recommendation #56.** The legislature should request a zero-based Ferries operations budget for the 2011-13 biennium.
- Farebox Recovery. Farebox recovery is a key indicator in setting ferry fares and is often used to compare Ferries' performance to that of other transit agencies. It is, therefore, important that the legislature and the public have a clear understanding of what is included and excluded as costs in the farebox recovery calculation.
 - o **Recommendation #57.** The legislature should establish its intent to have farebox recovery calculated on a consistent basis, including only costs charged to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account and including all such costs (i.e. Marine Employee Commission and OFM charges) unless specifically excluded by the legislature.

Summary of Recommendations

	Aron	Summary of Recommendations	WCDOT Farrice Division Decreases
	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
		The legislature should monitor Ferry ridership.	1. Concur
2358	Ridership Forecast	The legislature should consider funding a marketing initiative.	2. Concur
es to ESHE		The legislature should not plan on transfers from the operating budget to support the capital budget.	3. Concur
lan Response	Vehicle Level of Service Standard	4. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposed percentage of sailings filled to capacity approach to vehicle level of service.	4. Concur
Revised Draft Long Range Plan Responses to ESHB 2358	Operational and Pricing Strategies	5. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposed operational and pricing strategies, including transit enhancements and fare incentives to increase walk-on use of ferries and nosurcharge vehicle reservations to level peak vehicle demand.	5. Concur
Revise	J J	The legislature should use the predesign process to more thoroughly review the implementation of Ferries' proposed transit enhancements and reservation strategies.	6. Concur. We agree that a careful predesign study is critical to the success of the reservation system. We will work with OFM on an appropriate scope for pre-design.
16-Year Capital Plan		7. In developing a financial plan for Ferries, the legislature should recognize that shipyard costs are rising at a faster rate than the general rate of construction inflation reflected in the WSDOT Construction Cost Index.	7. Concur
	Vessel Cost Inflation Assumptions	8. The legislature should use the Bureau of Labor Statistics indexes for non-military ship construction and non-military ship repair for those portions of the vessel and emergency repair capital program that are for work done in commercial shipyards, and the WSDOT Construction Cost Index for staff and consultant costs.	8. Concur
	New Vessel Construction and	9. Ferries' Scenario A plan for a 22-vessel fleet to provide current service levels should be endorsed by the legislature.	Concur. 22 vessel fleet is critical to support existing service levels.
	Deployment	The legislature should not approve the Scenario A plan to add an additional vessel to the fleet to provide a fourth	10. Concur

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
		vessel on the Fauntleroy-Vashon- Southworth route. Ferries should either continue the triangle service or provide more direct service with the three vessels assigned to the route.	
		11. The legislature should fund the acquisition of five (5) new vessels in the 16-year financial plan period: four (4) small (64-auto Island Home class vessels) and one (1) large (144-auto) vessel.	11. Do not concur. Agree with number of vessels, but not allocation of vessels. WSF preference is 3, 64-car ferries and 2, 144-car ferries.
		12. The legislature should provide funding to acquire four new small vessels (64-auto Island Home class) in the 2010-2013 biennia and funding to construct a new large (144-auto) vessel in the 2023-25 biennium.	12. Do not concur. Regarding timing of vessel procurement, WSF preference is for 5 new vessels to be acquired in the next six years or not later than 8 years.
16-Year Capital Plan		13. The legislature's 16-year financial plan should assume the following deployments by 2025: Bainbridge-Bremerton routes four (4) vessels, including two (2) jumbo, one (1) large and one (1) medium; Clinton two (2) medium vessels; Kingston two (2) jumbo vessels; Point Defiance one (1) small vessel; Port Townsend two (2) small vessels; San Juans and Sidney routes five (5) vessels, including three (3) large, one (1) medium, and one (1) small (summer); and the Fauntleroy-Southworth-Vashon Triangle route three (3) vessels, including one (1) medium and two (2) mid-size.	13. Do not concur. WSF's preferred 2025 vessel deployment differs in the following: For the Bainbridge-Bremerton route combination two (2) jumbo and two (2) large; Clinton one (1) large and one (1) medium; San Juans and Sidney four (4) large and one (1) mid-size (summer); and the Fauntleroy-Vashon-Southworth triangle route three (3) medium summer and two (2) medium and one (1) mid-size fall/winter/ spring.
		14. Vessel preservation planning should consider out-of-service time and incorporate a review of whether the program can be constructed and delivered as planned.	14. Concur
	Vessel Preservation	15. The legislature should reduce the vessel preservation program by 15 percent in the 16-year plan, pending a constructability and delivery review.	15. Do not concur. We agree that the vessel preservation program needs to be updated and reviewed for constructability. We do not concur with reducing the program unless this is warranted at the conclusion of the review. Some of the older vessels, particularly the Supers, are becoming more difficult to maintain, and we will need preservation funds to keep

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
			the fleet in service.
16-Year Capital Plan		Ferries should aggressively pursue reducing out-of-service time, and the legislature should give priority to funding such reductions.	16. In general, WSF concurs that a focus should be placed on reducing out of service time in conducting preservation including revisiting the periodicity of topside painting and renovating passenger areas. However, it may not be practical to work double shifts at Eagle Harbor; not only from a cost perspective, but also from the perspective of impacting the neighborhood community with the noise and light associated with ship maintenance. Finally, out of service time is also affected by external influences such as regulatory mandates and unplanned vessel repairs.
		17. Ferries should consider ways to reduce out-of-service time associated with Eagle Harbor Repair and Maintenance Facility vessel work, including the potential for double shifts.	17. WSF agrees that efforts should be made to reduce out of service time. WSF has been making efforts to use Eagle Harbor crews for maintenance activities during vessel preservation work periods in commercial yards. This has begun to reduce the amount of time vessels spend in Eagle Harbor. However, we believe the addition of a double shift or evening work at Eagle Harbor would be problematic and result in significant community impacts since the maintenance facility is located in a neighborhood setting.
		18. In developing its 16-year financial plan, the legislature should assume that topside painting will occur every 10 years and request Ferries to review whether passenger space renovations are necessary every 12 years on all routes.	18. Concur
		19. The legislature should increase funding for topside painting projects by 30 percent in order to permit funding of an accelerated painting schedule to reduce project out-of-service time.	19. Concur. Accelerated painting schedules can be achieved subject to shipyard availability, the shipyard's subcontractors ability to double/triple shifts, and time of year/weather conditions.
		20. The legislature should increase funding for the Hyak renovation to rebuild its motor for use in other Super class ferries if needed in order to reduce out-of-service time.	20. Concur

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
		21. The legislature should not provide preservation funding for the <i>Evergreen State</i> or the <i>Rhododendron</i> , but rather allow the Certificates of Inspection for these vessels to lapse.	21. If the vessel procurement plan provides for 5 boats within eight years, we concur realizing the <i>M.V. Evergreen State</i> will need to remain in service until the first 144 is delivered and some minimal funding will be necessary to keep it fully operational. If not (such as the CRG recommendation for 4 64's in the near future and 144s later), do not concur. <i>M.V. Hiyu</i> is inadequate as a stand by vessel necessitating keeping <i>Evergreen State</i> fully maintained and preserved as a standby until the first 144 is delivered.
16-Year Capital Plan		22. The legislature should fund the fuel efficiency improvement on one of the Super class ferries in addition to the rebuild of the <i>Hyak</i> (which will include a new propulsion engine) to minimize out-of-service time and to determine whether the modification is costeffective.	22. Concur
	Vessel Improvement	23. The legislature should not fund the fuel efficiency project proposed for the Issaquah class ferries because waste heat recovery has not proven to be a cost-effective fuel conservation investment.	23. Do not concur. Waste heat recovery is a viable fuel consumption reduction methodology with an estimated payback of 5 years in this case. Recommend a pilot on one Issaquah class vessel to validate the concept.
		24. The legislature should appropriate \$50,000 for an analysis of the steering gear ventilation requirements for the Jumbo Mark II and Jumbo Mark I vessels rather than the \$1.0 million included in Scenario A in order to ensure legislative understanding of the costs and benefits associated with the proposed solution.	24. Concur
	Vessel Policy	25. The legislature should require a predesign report for vessel construction and improvement projects and for vessel preservation projects over \$5.0 million.	25. Do not concur. Concur with the value of completing pre-design studies for construction, preservation, and improvement projects. However, the thresholds should be revised to: 1) All new construction; 2) \$15.0 million for major renovations (preservation); and 3) Improvements \$5 million for complete programs (not on vessel by vessel basis). For improvements mandated by regulatory agencies, only an

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
			appropriately scaled pre-design study should be necessary.
		26. The legislature should require as part of the pre-design process for new vessel construction a projection of out-of-service time and a life-cycle cost analysis of alternatives that would reduce planned out-of-service time. The life-cycle cost analysis should consider the impact on fleet size.	26. Concur
ıpital Plan		27. Ferries and the legislature should consider existing designs prior to launching new designs for vessels, consider third party management of new vessel design and construction, and ensure that the design-build process is integrated with the predesign report process and used effectively to expedite vessel design and construction at minimum cost to the state.	27. Concur with considering existing designs before starting a new design for new ferries and ensuring the design build process is integrated with the pre-design report. Do not concur with recommendation to employ third party vessel construction management. Believe it adds costs while reducing the probability of delivering vessels that fully meet state requirements.
16-Year Capital Plan		28. Ferries should revise its terminal cost estimating procedures to provide more consistent and tighter cost estimating, including an internal control to ensure that unit prices and the application of design and other allowances are reasonable.	28. Concur. Working on improvements.
	Terminal Cost Estimating	29. Ferries should revise its budget development process to ensure that: terminal sub-projects are reviewed for constructability, with cost reductions for combining WINS into single construction projects incorporated in the capital 16-year plan; and that the capital budget reflects the scoping estimates.	29. Concur
		30. Ferries should revise its capital construction performance goals to encourage the development of reasonable project cost estimates.	30. Concur. The Asset Management program will revise performance goals.
		31. The legislature should approve project funding at a level consistent with the revised cost estimates for the 22 terminal preservation WINs reviewed by the consultants.	31. No response.

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
	Terminal Preservation	32. The legislature should reduce Category 2 terminal preservation funding in order to bring the 16-year plan closer to the performance goal for these assets, by reducing lower priority Category 2 investments, reducing the uplands paving program by 50 percent, and by not preserving the passenger-only vessel facilities at Eagle Harbor.	32. Concur
Jan		33. The legislature should not fund the stormwater improvements program, but rather provide funding for stormwater projects as part of the funding of terminal preservation or improvement projects.	33. Do not concur. The completed "improvements" study would develop scoping level designs and estimates for implementation of stormwater best management practices (BMPs) at each terminal so that WSF can achieve compliance with the Federal Clean Water Act and State Water Quality Laws (RCS 90.48, WAC 173-201A, and WAC 173- 270).
16-Year Capital Plan	Terminal Improvements	34. The legislature should include in its 16- year plan funding for Ferries' revised reservation program.	34. Concur
16-Y		35. The legislature should decrease funding for terminal security improvements at Ferries' revised level.	35. Concur
		36. The legislature should increase funding for terminal seismic improvements to provide a placeholder for additional improvements resulting from Ferries' ongoing seismic surveys.	36. Concur
		37. The legislature should not fund emergency generators at small terminals where minimal revenue is at risk during power outages, instead continuing to rely on vessel shore power during landside power outages.	37. Concur. It should be noted that on multi- destinational routes like the San Juan Islands, not supplying emergency generators to one island will impact all islands with delayed sailings.
		38. The legislature should not fund dwell time improvements until the impact of operational and pricing strategies on ridership is known.	38. Concur
		39. The legislature should not fund transit capital improvements at terminals until the impact of operational and pricing strategies on walk-on ridership is known and until the availability of transit service is assessed.	39. We agree that with limited funds, these projects are lower in priority than new vessels. However, encouraging walk-ons is a key operational strategy, and transit connections are an important factor in encouraging walk-ons. If the funding

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
			picture improves, we will recommend adding the transit enhancement projects back in to the capital budget.
		40. The legislature should provide funding for the relocation of the Mukilteo terminal without bow loading.	40. Concur
		41. The legislature should not fund non- essential terminal improvement projects at Anacortes and Lopez, and should move superfund site monitoring at Eagle Harbor to the operations budget.	41. No response
	Terminal Policy	42. The legislature should endorse the findings of the <i>Analysis of Joint Development Opportunities at Washington State Ferry Terminals: Final Report</i> and provide funding for WSDOT to pursue the identified development opportunities.	42. Concur
16-Year Capital Plan		43. The legislature and Ferries should consider third party management of major terminal projects, defined as those that exceed \$50.0 million.	43. Concur
16-Year Ca	Emergency Repair	44. The legislature should plan on emergency repair funding in the 2009-11 biennium that would equal the projected 2007-09 level for non-retired vessels and terminals, and adjust funding levels in anticipation of the retirement of the <i>Rhododendron</i> and the <i>Evergreen State</i> at the end of the 2009-11 biennium.	44. Do not concur. Concur with reducing emergency repair funding associated with the retirement of <i>M.V. Rhododendron</i> . Do not concur for <i>M.V. Evergreen State</i> – see comment regarding Recommendation #21.
		45. The legislature should adjust carry- forward amounts for one-time expenses in the administration and indirect support costs when developing its 16- year financial plan.	45. Concur
	Administration and Indirect Costs	46. The legislature should not fund specific terminal or vessel costs as part of administration and indirect costs, but rather accommodate those costs within terminal and vessel projects.	46. Concur
		47. The legislature should plan on capital administration costs of \$96.4 million in developing its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$3.3 million from Scenario A.	47. Concur

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
		48. The legislature should allocate project control section staff costs between vessel and terminal indirect costs when developing its 16-year financial plan.	48. Concur that vessels need additional budget and project control resources. We need to analyze how this can best be done. In the 09-11 budget, with two consultant positions converted to FTEs in vessel engineering for this purpose, we believe two additional positions are needed for vessels, not four.
ıl Plan		49. The legislature should not fund implementation of the WSDOT Project Management Reporting System in Ferries.	49. Concur for vessels, not terminals.
16-Year Capital Plan		50. The legislature should plan on terminal indirect costs of \$55.7 million in developing its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$30.7 million from Scenario A.	50. Do not concur.
		51. The legislature should plan on vessel indirect costs of \$29.7 million over its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$9.6 million from Scenario A.	51. Concur with many of the recommendations. However, there are some issues where continuing additional resources will be needed (e.g. LCCM asset inspection/documentation, noise consultant), plus there are a number of other adjustments which result in a net savings of \$7.1 million instead of the \$9.6 million identified by the consultant for the plan.
ear Plan		52. The legislature in developing its 16-year financial plan should assume fuel conservation savings from slowing vessels on average 0.5 knot in the summer and 0.75 knot the rest of the year.	52. Concur
Operations 16-Year	Vessel Operations	53. The legislature should endorse the concept of a fuel surcharge to stabilize Ferries' operations finances provided that Ferries provides the legislature with a plan for determining and applying the surcharge, and that Ferries reviews operational strategies to reduce fuel consumption before applying the surcharge.	53. Concur

	Area	Recommendation	WSDOT Ferries Division Response
	Management & Support Costs	54. The legislature should adopt the policy proposed in the Governor's 2009-11 biennium budget of not charging the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account for expenses incurred by WSDOT Executive Management (Program S) and Information Technology Services (Program C).	54. Concur
Operations 16-Year Plan		55. The legislature should consider the establishment of a vessel replacement fund that would set aside funds for the periodic replacement of vessels.	55. Concur
Operations		56. The legislature should request a zero- based Ferries operations budget for the 2011-13 biennium.	56. Concur
	Operations Policy	57. The legislature should establish its intent to have farebox recovery calculated on a consistent basis, including only costs charged to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account and including all such costs (i.e. Marine Employee Commission and OFM charges) unless specifically excluded by the legislature.	57. Concur

Summary of Alternatives

Area	Alternative
New Vessel Construction	Build three Island Home vessels instead of four and provide service on the Port Townsend-Keystone route with one vessel year-round. Build one fewer large vessel by: 1. Consolidating Sidney and San Juans routes and provide sailings to Sidney at less desirable hours; or 2. Purchasing a used foreign-flagged vessel to provide service to Sidney; or 3. Re-building a Super class ferry to extend its life beyond the anticipated retirement date.
Terminal Improvements	Preserve the Mukilteo terminal at its existing location instead of relocating. Preserve the existing Anacortes terminal building by re-roofing instead of constructing a new building.
Management and Support Costs	Self-insure property coverages that are currently purchased as part of the marine insurance program. Fund a marketing program, emphasizing off-peak ridership, to help Ferries attain the projected ridership and associated revenues.

SECTION I. PURPOSE AND APPROACH

A. Purpose

The 2007 Legislature directed the Joint Transportation Committee (JTC) to make recommendations regarding the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) Ferries Division (Ferries) capital financing strategies for consideration in the 2009 legislative session. The study was required to include: (1) confirming Ferries' estimate of future capital requirements based on a long-range capital plan; and (2) WSDOT's development of a plan for co-development and public-private partnerships at terminals.

B. Ferries' Long-Range Plan

Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan 2009-2030*, completed on January 31, 2009, is the basis for this report.

1. Legislative Direction on Ferries' Long-Range Plan

In the 2007 session, the legislature passed ESHB 2358 directing Ferries to adopt adaptive management practices in its operating and capital programs in order to keep costs as low as possible, maximize utilization of existing assets, and continuously improve the quality and timeliness of service. ESHB 2358 requires Ferries to base its capital plan on:

- A revised ridership forecast
- A revised vehicle level of service standard
- Operational strategies that ensure that existing assets are fully utilized
- Terminal design standards that choose the most efficient balance between capital and operating investments.

In the 2008 session, the legislature passed SSB 6932 directing Ferries to base its long-range vessel and terminal capital plan on its life-cycle cost models¹³ and to include the following current plans:

- Vessel preservation plan
- Systemwide vessel rebuild and replacement plan
- Vessel deployment plan
- Terminal preservation plan.

SSB 6932 also directed Ferries to evaluate long-term operating costs related to fuel efficiency and staffing in planning for vessel acquisitions.

¹³ The JTC Ferries Policy Work Group has reviewed modifications to the terminal life-cycle cost model. See *Joint Transportation Committee Policy Group Ferry System Review Phase II Status Report*, December 15, 2007, for further information on modifications to the terminal life-cycle cost model. The vessel life-cycle cost model is reviewed in *Vessel Preservation and Replacement Study*, January 2008, pp. 37-42.

2. JTC Participation in Ferries' Long-Range Plan

The Legislature directed the JTC to participate in as well as review Ferries' long-range capital plan (ESHB 2878 Section 205 (1)(a)(vi)). As part of its participation in Ferries' long-range capital plan, the JTC issued six reports as part of its Ferry Financing Study II. Appendix I provides a summary of the Ferry Financing Study II recommendations and how they are reflected in Scenario A and/or this report's recommendations.

3. Capital Plan Revised Schedule

Ferries planned to release its Draft Long-Range Plan by the end of November 2008, with a final plan, following public review and comment, on January 7, 2009. The JTC anticipated finishing its review of the capital plan on January 29, 2009.

Ferries' schedule was modified to accommodate direction from the Governor to develop a fiscally constrained alternative plan. Ferries released its initial plan on December 26, 2008 and, following public comments, a *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* on January 31, 2009.

The JTC's initial review of Ferries' capital plan and recommendations on long-term financing were presented to the House and Senate Transportation Committees on March 2, 2009. This draft report incorporates the March 2 presentation and subsequent analysis and recommendations.

C. WSDOT Joint Development Opportunities Report

WSDOT's Innovative Partnerships Program issued *Analysis of Joint Development Opportunities at Washington State Ferry Terminals Final Report* on January 12, 2009. The report's review of development opportunities at terminals identified seven terminals with development potential that are reviewed as part of this long-range finances report. ¹⁵

D. Scope of Study

This study examines Ferries' expenditures. Ferries' long-term revenues are the subject of the Washington State Transportation Commission's *Ferry Funding Recommendations Final Report*, March 2009.

Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* covers the 22-year period from FY 2010 to FY 2031. The legislature adopts a capital and operating budget for one biennium supported by a 16-year financial plan. This report, which was prepared to assist the legislature with their review, focuses on the 16-year financial plan period from FY 2010 through FY 2025.

1

¹⁴ The JTC Ferries Financing studies are: (1) Auto-Passenger Vessel Preservation and Replacement Final Report, January 2008; (2) Capital Program Staffing and Administration Cost Final Report, April 2008; (3) Systemwide Capital Projects Final Report, May 2008; (4) Management and Support Costs Final Report, July 2008; (5) Non-Labor, Non-Fuel Operating Cost Final Report, July 2008; and (6) Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report, April 2009.

¹⁵ The seven terminals with development potential are: Bainbridge, Edmonds, Seattle/Colman Dock, Anacortes, Friday Harbor, Mukilteo, and Orcas Island. See page 18 of the *Joint Development Opportunities at Washington State Ferry Terminals Final Report*.

E. Approach

Demand

1. Ferry Finance Model

The consultants used the ferry finance decision model recommended in the JTC's ferries finance studies as a basis for their review of Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range*. Under the model, ridership projections, level of service standards, and pricing and operational strategies are the basis for long-range vessel and terminal capital and operations financial decisions.

Figure 1.

Level of
Service
Standard

Operational & Vessel
Acquisition
& Deployment

Terminals
Repair
Facility Plans

Financial Plan
Operations & Capital

2. Ferries' Revised Draft Long-Range Plan Scenarios

Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* includes two scenarios. Scenario A assumes current levels of service with minor improvements and with the State continuing to be the primary funder of the ferry system. Scenario B recognizes that the State may not be able to meet the financial needs of the system, provides for reduced services, and anticipates local funding of passenger-only ferry service.¹⁶

This report focuses on Scenario A. Appendix II provides a summary of Scenario B.

3. Recommendations

This report includes recommendations for actions that the consultants believe the legislature should take. In light of the state's fiscal constraints, this report also includes alternatives. Alternatives are actions the legislature could take that would reduce costs while preserving service levels.

F. Sources and Methods

The consultants based this analysis on the capital and operating projections in Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan*. Ferries has participated fully in the preparation of this report. They have provided the consultants with: (1) the financial model developed by Berk & Associates for Ferries' planning; (2) scoping documents for terminal projects; (3) accounting reports, including expenditures to date on capital and operating budgets for

¹⁶ See page 2 of the *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* for a general description of Scenarios A and B.

the 2007-09 biennium; (4) vessel fuel reports and projections; and (5) vessel and terminal life-cycle cost model capital plans.

The consultants also reviewed the Governor's proposed budget and capital plan. Staff of the House and Senate Transportation Committees assisted in the analysis of the 16-year financial plan.

SECTION II. FERRIES' REVISED DRAFT LONG-RANGE PLAN

This section provides an overview of Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan* ridership projections, proposed vehicle level of service standard, and proposed operating and pricing strategies, and discusses their implications for Ferries' long-term finances.

The consultants recommend that the legislature: (1) recognize the risks implicit in Ferries' ridership projection and require ongoing ridership reports as a basis for future decision-making; (2) endorse Ferries' proposed approach to vehicle level of service; and (3) endorse Ferries' proposed operational and pricing strategies, utilizing the pre-design process to review implementation of these strategies.

A. Ridership

1. Ridership Projection

ESHB 2358 required Ferries' capital plan to be based on a revised ridership forecast. The ridership was re-forecast with JTC participation and concurrence. The *Joint Transportation Committee Policy Group Ferry System Review Phase II Status Report*, December 15, 2008, which is attached as Appendix III, provides further information on the ridership forecast.

Ferries projects a 21 percent increase in system ridership in the 16-year plan period, assuming average fare increases of 2.5 percent per year. Ridership peaked in FY 2000 and has decreased by 12 percent between then and FY 2008. Only one fiscal year (2007) experienced any year-to-year growth during this nine-year period, and that growth was a modest 0.9 percent over FY 2006.

Ferries has assumed that ridership declined in response to sharp increases in fares starting in FY 2000 in response to the loss of motor vehicle excise tax (MVET) revenues. However, a general market survey by the Washington State Transportation Commission (WSTC) suggests that ridership changes are more related to changes in life style than to fare increases. (See *Status Report* in Appendix III for further detail.)

2. Implications for Ferries' Long-Term Finances

a. Ferries Needs to Plan for Modest Ridership Growth

Ferries' projected growth between its peak ridership in FY 2000 and FY 2025 is 9 percent. Population growth in the counties serviced by Ferries is anticipated to increase by approximately 35 percent during this same 25-year period.¹⁷

This means that Ferries does not need to plan for a large service expansion because projected ridership is not anticipated to grow in proportion to increases in population.

¹⁷ WSDOT Ferries Division Draft Long-Range Plan, Appendix D-Ridership Forecasting Technical Report, December 31, 2008, p. 8.

b. Risk in Ridership Projection - Operations Revenue

Given the declining system ridership, which may be aggravated by the current economic condition, there is a risk that Ferries will not generate the ridership that is forecast. Ridership reductions beyond those forecast will affect Ferries' forecasted farebox revenue, which is projected to provide 80 percent of Ferries' operating revenue in Scenario A during the 16-year financial plan period. If for example, ridership were to stabilize at the FY 2007 level rather than grow 21 percent, it would result in a \$142.8 million drop in projected revenues over the 16-year period.

3. Recommendations

Recommendation #1. The legislature should monitor Ferry ridership.

Ferries should provide reports to the legislature on ridership changes over time by route. This will assist the legislature as they make ongoing decisions on Ferries' operations and capital program.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #2. The legislature should consider funding a marketing initiative.

At a projected 80 percent farebox recovery, Ferries is heavily dependent on ridership to support its operations expenses. A marketing initiative to encourage ridership, particularly during off-peak periods, could help to stabilize and even grow ridership.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #3. The legislature should not plan on transfers from the operating budget to support the capital budget.

Ferries has previously planned to use operating income resulting from projected ridership increases to help pay for its capital program. While not a part of Scenario A in Ferries' *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan*, transfers from operating to capital are contemplated in Scenario B. Given the risks inherent in the ridership projection and resulting revenue forecasts, the legislature should not plan for such transfers when developing the 16-year financial plan. This is consistent with ESHB 2358, which provides that if operating revenues are used to support capital, they must be specifically identified in fares.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

B. Vehicle Level of Service Standard

1. Revised Vehicle Level of service Standard

The vehicle level of service standard is important because the capacity of the ferry system to carry vehicles is the primary constraint in the system. The 2007 legislature directed

¹⁸ See *Washington State Ferries Draft Long-Range Strategic Plan 2006-2030*, July 2006, which projected a 68 percent increase in ridership. The *Revised Draft Long-Range Plan*, January 2009 projects a 36 percent increase in ridership by 2030.

Ferries to re-establish its vehicle level of service standard and evaluate if boat wait is the right measure. ESHB 2358 requires Ferries to base its capital plan on the revised standard.

Ferries' revised vehicle level of service standard is proposed to be the percentage of sailings filled to capacity in the summer, spring and winter rather than a boat wait standard.

2. Implications for Ferries' Long-Term Finances

a. More Cost-Efficient Balance of Peak and Non-Peak Service

Under the boat wait vehicle level of service standard, Ferries focused service planning on the delivery of weekday peak period service (3PM to 7PM) when vehicles could not get on the first available ferry. Ferries' revised vehicle level of service standard, consistent with legislative direction to maximize utilization of existing assets, will provide for a more balanced delivery of peak and non-peak service.

b. More Cost-Efficient Capital and Operations Costs

A more balanced delivery of peak and non-peak service should result in more costefficient capital and operations costs. For example, decisions on vessel deployment for a particular route will be different when based on the percentage of annual sailings that are operating at capacity rather than based on boat waits during peak sailings.

3. Recommendations

Recommendation #4. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposed percentage of sailings filled to capacity approach to vehicle level of service.

Ferries' proposed approach to vehicle level of service is consistent with legislative direction to maximize use of existing assets.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

C. Operational and Pricing Strategies

1. Proposed Operational and Pricing Strategies

ESHB 2358 required Ferries to review a number of operational and pricing strategies. Ferries reviewed all of the operational and pricing strategies identified in ESHB 2358 plus others. (See Appendix III *Status Report* for further discussion.)

Ferries' Revised Draft Long-Range Plan proposes two types of strategies:

- Strategies to increase walk-on use of ferries
 - Transit enhancements
 - Fare incentives for foot-passengers

¹⁹ Boat wait is the number of sailings a customer would miss due to capacity constraints before being able to board.

- Strategies to level peak vehicle demand
 - Vehicle reservations
 - No surcharge for vehicle reservations²⁰

2. Implications for Ferries' Long-Term Finances

a. Encouraging Walk-on Use Will Help Maximize Utilization of Existing Vessel Capacity

The service constraint within the ferry system is the number of autos that can be accommodated. Throughout the system there has been, and is expected to be, capacity for additional walk-ons. Adopting strategies that will increase walk-on use will assist in maximizing use of existing vessel capacity.

b. On-Time Arrival of Vehicles Will Reduce Terminal Size

In previous planning efforts Ferries has proposed to build extensive holding facilities for autos that are waiting for sailings. With reservations, vehicles will arrive for the sailing 15 to 30 minutes before a reserved sailing. Ferries is not charging for reservations so that customers will not have an incentive to try to line up for spaces that are available. This means that there will be less space required to hold vehicles at or near the terminal and less on-street congestion.²¹

3. Recommendations

Recommendation #5. The legislature should endorse Ferries' proposed operational and pricing strategies, including transit enhancements and fare incentives to increase walk-on use of ferries and no-surcharge vehicle reservations to level peak vehicle demand.

Ferries' proposed operational and pricing strategies to encourage walk-on use of ferries and to level peak vehicle demand are consistent with legislative direction to maximize use of existing assets.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #6. The legislature should use the pre-design process to more thoroughly review the implementation of Ferries' proposed transit enhancements and reservation strategies.

ESHB 2358 requires Ferries to provide the legislature with a pre-design report²² for any terminal improvements. Transit enhancements and reservations are being implemented

²⁰ While there will not be a surcharge for reservations, it is anticipated that the reservation system will include a non-refundable pre-payment.

²¹ Ferries' proposed auto-holding capacity in previous planning efforts was estimated to cost \$300 million.

²² The pre-design process is a decision-making tool for major capital budget expenditures. A pre-design study, which is required before the legislature appropriates design and construction funding, investigates alternatives and assesses which best solves a specific problem and at what cost. ESHB 2358 requires a pre-design process for all terminal improvement projects and for terminal preservation projects over \$5.0 million.

through terminal improvement funding and will be subject to the pre-design process. Specific questions that should be addressed in Ferries' pre-design reports include:

• Transit Enhancements

- o Is transit service available from local transit providers?
- o How does the proposed transit improvement relate to the provision of transit service?
- o How will the proposed transit improvement encourage walk-on use of ferries?
- Are there operational modifications that might achieve the same result as the proposed capital investment?

• Vehicle Reservations

- o What alternative implementation strategies have been assessed and what criteria were used to select the preferred system?
- o How will the reservation system respond to route differences?

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur. We agree that a careful predesign study is critical to the success of the reservation system. We will work with OFM on an appropriate scope for pre-design.

SECTION III. REVISED DRAFT LONG-RANGE PLAN SCENARIO A FINANCES OVERVIEW

This section reviews Ferries' Revised Draft Long-Range Plan Scenario A finances.

A. Scenario A Service Level

Scenario A is based on the ridership projections, vehicle level of service standard, and operational and pricing strategies discussed in Section II. This scenario maintains existing sailings on all routes.²³ There are modest vessel auto capacity increases on the Bremerton, Mukilteo, Interisland²⁴, and Pt. Defiance routes. The major service change is to break up the Fauntleroy-Southworth-Vashon Triangle route into three direct routes between Fauntleroy-Vashon, Fauntleroy-Southworth, and Vashon-Southworth.

B. Capital Finances

As shown in Table 1, Scenario A has total capital expenses over the 16-year financial plan period of \$4,121.0 million with a funding shortfall of \$2,188.8 million. Of the capital expenses, 57 percent is for vessels, 30 percent for terminals, 5 percent for administration and indirect costs, 5 percent for debt service, and 2 percent for emergency repairs.

The largest expense is for the construction of nine (9) new vessels at a total cost of \$1,473.8 million.

C. Operations Finances

As shown in Table 1, Scenario A has total operations expenses over the 16-year period of \$4,308.1 million with a funding shortfall of \$261.0 million. Of the operations expenses, 68 percent is for vessel operating costs, 17 percent for terminal operations, and 15 percent for management and support costs.

-

²³ Scenario A service level includes restoration of full service to the Port Townsend route, which has been reduced to one boat service since the retirement of the Steel Electric class of vessels in late 2007.

²⁴ The Interisland route has historically been served by a Steel Electric vessel (59-auto). Since the retirement of the Steel Electric class vessels, it has been served by an Evergreen State class vessel (87-auto). Scenario A proposes a small vessel (64-auto) in the winter and a mid-size (87-auto) vessel the rest of the year.

Table 1. Scenario A Financial Projection

(\$ millions)

Capital Program	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 Yrs.
Capital Revenue*	410.5	327.5	199.3	137.3	209.8	225.4	217.8	204.6	1,932.8
Expenses									
New Vessel Construction	165.0	186.5	164.5	165.9	176.4	189.4	204.5	221.6	1,473.8
Vessel Preservation	56.3	37.0	78.9	106.7	101.6	111.3	149.1	179.4	820.3
Vessel Improvements	15.4	4.8	5.6	6.1	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	60.9
Terminal Preservation	57.7	89.6	71.8	248.8	115.9	156.1	65.8	54.6	860.3
Terminal Improvements	52.2	34.9	56.9	102.7	135.2	9.0	0.0	0.0	390.9
Emergency Repairs	7.0	7.5	8.2	9.0	9.9	10.8	11.9	13.0	77.3
Admin, Support, & Indirect	26.8	25.5	26.2	27.2	28.3	29.3	30.5	31.6	225.4
Debt Service	33.8	31.8	31.8	31.5	31.1	27.8	19.0	5.2	212.1
Total Capital Expenses	414.2	417.6	443.9	697.9	604.9	540.7	488.3	513.4	4,121.0
Capital Surplus or Shortfall	(3.7)	(90.1)	(244.6)	(560.6)	(395.1)	(315.3)	(270.5)	(308.8)	(2,188.8)
Operating Program	009-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YRS
Operating Revenue*	432.4	439.0	454.3	476.0	509.4	544.6	578.6	612.8	4,047.1
Expenses									
Fuel (Nov. 2008 forecast)	77.7	96.1	100.9	96.3	97.5	93.5	91.9	93.6	747.5
Non-Fuel Vessel Costs (labor, maintenance)	218.1	240.0	249.6	266.2	283.0	299.9	313.6	327.5	2,197.9
Terminal Costs	68.1	72.7	77.2	85.5	94.4	100.1	106.2	112.8	717.0
Management & Support Costs	69.5	72.4	75.4	78.2	81.3	84.6	88.0	91.4	640.8
OFM Charges for Labor Relations	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.8
Marine Employee Commission	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	4.1
Total Operating Expenses	433.9	481.8	503.7	526.8	556.8	578.7	600.4	626.0	4,308.1
Operating Surplus or Shortfall	(1.5)	(42.8)	(49.4)	(50.8)	(47.4)	(34.1)	(21.8)	(13.2)	(261.0)
Farebox Recovery**	75%	74%	77%	78%	79%	81%	84%	86%	80%

^{*}Revenue estimates revised by House and Senate Transportation Committee staff to reflect 2008 session 16-year financial plan, capital fund balance, and November farebox and ancillary revenue forecasts. Revenues include direct distribution of gas tax and licenses and permits; administrative transfers from the motor vehicle and multi-modal vehicle accounts; and, in the operations account, farebox, fuel surcharge, and miscellaneous revenues.

^{**}Farebox recovery is the percentage of operations expenses that are covered by farebox, fuel surcharge, and other associated revenues.

SECTION IV. CAPITAL PROGRAM

This section reviews the capital program proposed in Scenario A and makes cost reduction and policy recommendations. The consultants' cost reduction recommendations and alternatives are summarized in the table below.

Table 2.
Capital Program Summary

(\$ millions)

	Scenario A	Recommend	Change	Alternative (Cost Reductions)
Vessel Construction	1,473.8	514.0	-959.8	-313.0
Vessel Preservation	820.3	620.8	-199.5	-19.3
Vessel Improvement	60.9	53.7	-7.2	-1.0
Sub-total Vessels	2,355.0	1,188.5	<i>-1,166.5</i>	-333.3
Terminal Preservation	860.3	672.7	-187.6	-2.1
Terminal Improvement	390.9	165.0	-225.9	-55.7
Sub-total Terminals	<i>1,251.2</i>	<i>837.7</i>	-413.5	-57.8
Emergency Repairs	77.3	46.0	-31.3	
Administration & Indirect	225.4	181.9	-43.6	
Debt Service	212.1	212.1	0.0	
Total Expenditures Capital Revenues	4,121.0 1,932.2	2,466.2 1,932.2	-1,654.8	-391.1
Funding Gap	-2,188.8	-534.0	1,654.8	-142.9

The consultants' policy recommendations include recommendations for improved management of Ferries' vessel and terminal capital programs.

A. Vessel Capital Expenses

In Ferries' Scenario A 16-year capital program, the vessel capital costs are \$2,355.0 million or 57 percent of all capital expenses.

1. Vessel Cost Inflation Assumptions

Nationally and regionally, vessel construction and repair costs are rising faster than general construction inflation. ²⁵ Ferries' Scenario A uses the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) Non-Military Shipbuilding Index to forecast inflation for the 16-year period rather than WSDOT's Construction Cost Index. The BLS Non-Military Shipbuilding Index shows a prior 10-year average annual cost increase of 4.65 percent, which Ferries rounded to 4.70 percent. The average annual cost increase in the WSDOT Construction

²⁵ See Congressional Budget Office, March 23, 2007, *Resource Implications of the Navy's Fiscal Year 2008 Shipbuilding Plan* and *Factors Influencing Navy Shipbuilding "Maintaining the 313 Plan"* by Allison Stiller, Deputy Assistant Secretary of the Navy for Ship Programs, for discussions of the factors affecting shipbuilding costs.

Cost Index is approximately 2 percent. There is also a Non-Military Ship Repair BLS index. This index shows that in the last 10 years, ship repair costs have increased an average of 3.75 percent per year. This index is more applicable than the shipbuilding index to Ferries' vessel preservation, improvement, and emergency repair costs.

A significant portion of Ferries' vessel capital expenses are attributable to staff and consultant expenses. These costs are anticipated to continue to rise at the rates forecast in the WSDOT Construction Cost Index.

The table below shows the inflation assumptions used in Ferries' Scenario A and those recommended by the consultants.

Table 3. Vessel Capital Program Inflation Rate Assumptions

	_	Appli	cation to Vessel Capital Program
Cost Index	10-Yr Average Annual Increase	Scenario A	Recommended
BLS ship construction non-military	4.70%	All Vessel Capital Emergency Repair	Vessel construction (shipyard costs)
BLS ship repair non-military	3.75%		Vessel preservation (shipyard costs) Vessel improvement (shipyard costs) Emergency repairs (shipyard costs)
WSDOT Construction Cost Index (forecast approximate average)	2.00%		Staff & consultant percentage of vessel capital Construction - 7% Preservation - 20% Improvement - 20% Emergency repairs - 16%

The impact of the recommendations below is a reduction in the Scenario A capital program of \$64.2 million over the 16-year plan period.

Recommendation #7. In developing a financial plan for Ferries, the legislature should recognize that shipyard costs are rising at a faster rate than the general rate of construction inflation reflected in the WSDOT Construction Cost Index.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #8. The legislature should use the Bureau of Labor Statistics indexes for non-military ship construction and non-military ship repair for those portions of the vessel and emergency repair capital program that are for work done in commercial shipyards, and the WSDOT Construction Cost Index for staff and consultant costs.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

²⁶ Ship repair costs have not risen as steeply as ship construction costs because a higher percentage of the cost of ship repair is labor rather than commodities such as steel and copper that have experienced higher annual cost increases.

2. New Vessel Construction

New vessel construction at a total capital cost of \$1,473.8 million is the most significant cost in Ferries' Scenario A 16-year capital program. Other costs directly related to Ferries' proposed vessel construction program include: \$117.9 million for preservation of new vessels, \$6.4 million for new vessel improvements, and \$12.4 million for an additional slip at the Southworth terminal to support the proposed break-up of triangle service on the Fauntleroy-Vashon-Southworth route. In total the new vessel construction program and associated vessel and terminal preservation and improvement account for 39 percent of all capital expenditures in the Scenario A 16-year capital program.

a. Fleet Size and Composition

The JTC's *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report*, April 2009, recommended that Ferries have a 22-vessel fleet to maintain existing service levels during the 16-year plan period.²⁷ Ferries' Scenario A has a 22-vessel fleet for existing service levels and adds one small vessel to add a fourth vessel to the Fauntleroy-Vashon-Southworth Triangle route. The consultants do not recommend adding a fourth vessel to the Fauntleroy-Vashon-Southworth Triangle route. Ferries could continue to provide the triangle service or, if more direct service is needed between Fauntleroy and Vashon and between Fauntleroy and Southworth, Ferries could do so in the three-vessel configuration by limiting service between Vashon and Southworth, the least used sub-route.

The *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report*, which analyzed key service indicators for each route, recommended a smaller, more fuel efficient fleet composition than proposed by Ferries in Scenario A. The *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report* recommended acquiring four (4) small vessels (64-auto Island Home class vessels) and one new large (144-auto) vessel during the 16-year plan period, for a total of five (5) new vessels. Under Scenario A Ferries would acquire three (3) new small vessels (64-auto Island Home class vessels) and six (6) new large (144-auto) vessels during the 16-year plan period, for a total of nine (9) new vessels.

The table below shows the difference in fleet size and acquisition between Ferries' Scenario A and the recommended plan.

Table 4. Scenario A and Recommended Fleet Size & Composition

Vessel							
Size/Autos	Scenario	A FY 25	Recommen	ded FY 25	Differe	nce	
	Fleet Size	# Built	Fleet Size	# Built	Fleet Size	# Built	
Jumbo (188-202)	5		5				
Large (144)	8	6	4	1		-5	
Medium (124)	5		5				
Mid-size (87-90)	1		3				
Small (34-64)	4	3 (64 auto)	5	4 (64 auto)		1	
Total	23	9	22	5	-4		

²⁷ The *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report* recommends a 21-vessel fleet for existing service by 2030 assuming reductions in planned out-of-service time.

Recommendation #9. Ferries' Scenario A plan for a 22-vessel fleet to provide current service levels should be endorsed by the legislature.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur. 22 vessel fleet is critical to support existing service levels.

Recommendation #10. The legislature should not approve the Scenario A plan to add an additional vessel to the fleet to provide a fourth vessel on the Fauntleroy-Vashon-Southworth route. Ferries should either continue the triangle service or provide more direct service with the three vessels assigned to the route.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #11. The legislature should fund the acquisition of five (5) new vessels in the 16-year financial plan period: four (4) small (64-auto Island Home class vessels) and one (1) large (144 auto) vessel.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. Agree with number of vessels, but not allocation of vessels. WSF preference is 3, 64-car ferries and 2, 144-car ferries.

b. Vessel Construction Timing and Vessel Retirements

The Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report recommended that Ferries acquire four (4) new small vessels during the FY 2010 to FY 2013 time period and begin the acquisition of new large 144-auto vessels when the existing Super class large vessels (144-auto) and two Evergreen State class mid-size (87-auto) vessels are due for retirement. Acquiring four (4) small vessels by FY 2013 would allow the restoration of two-vessel service to the Port Townsend route, discontinuing the lease of the Pierce County Steilacoom II. These acquisitions would also provide for the retirement of the two vessels in Ferries' fleet that are in most urgent need of retirement, the small 48-auto Rhododendron and the mid-size 87-auto Evergreen State. The acquisition of new large vessels (144-auto) would begin in the 2023-25 biennium with the retirement of the Super class Elwha (144-auto).

Ferries' Scenario A anticipates acquiring nine (9) new vessels and retiring six (6) vessels from the fleet. As in the recommended fleet, Scenario A retires the *Rhododendron* from the Pt. Defiance route and replaces it with a new small (64-auto) vessel. The mid-size *Evergreen State* (87-auto) is retired and replaced with the first new large vessel (144-auto). The second new large vessel (144-auto) allows Ferries to put an existing large vessel into a reserve status for emergency relief. The next four large vessels allow for the early retirement of two (2) mid-size vessels (87-auto) and two (2) large (144-auto) vessels.

The table below shows the relationship between the proposed vessel construction program and the retirement of vessels under Scenario A and the recommended plan.

Table 5.

Vessel Timing and Retirement Scenario A and Recommended Fleet

Retires Early	Sco	enario A	Recomn	nended	Retirement Range
Biennium	Build	Retire	Build	Retire	
09-11	2 - Small (64-auto)		2 - Small (64-auto)		
11-13	1 - Small (64-auto)	Rhododendron	2- Small (64-auto)	Rhododendron	2011
13-15	1 - Large (144-auto)	Evergreen State	2- 3111ali (04-auto)	Evergreen State	2010-15
15-17	1 - Large (144-auto)				
17-19	1 - Large (144-auto)	Tillikum (Mid-Size, 87-auto)			Tillikum - 2022-27
19-21	1 - Large (144-auto)	Klahowya (Mid-Size, 87-auto)			Klahowya- 2023-28
21-23	1 - Large (144-auto)	Elwha (Large, 144-auto)			<i>Elwha</i> - 2025-30
23-25	1 - Large (144-auto)	Yakima (Large, 144-auto)	_		<i>Yakima -</i> 2028-33
23-25			1 - Large (144-auto)	1 Large (144-auto)	<i>Elwha</i> - 2025-30

Recommendation #12. The legislature should provide funding to acquire four new small vessels (64-auto Island Home class) in the 2010-2013 biennia and funding to construct a new large (144-auto) vessel in the 2023-25 biennium.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. Regarding timing of vessel procurement, WSF preference is for 5 new vessels to be acquired in the next six years or not later than 8 years.

c. Fleet Deployment

The Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report included a recommended deployment plan, which differs from the deployment proposed in Ferries' Scenario A. The deployment plans are shown in the table below.

Table 6.
Scenario A and Recommended Fleet Deployment

	,,	Scopario /	A 2025 Fleet	Dog	Recommended 2025 Fleet			
Devile	#							
Route	vessels	Winter F, S	Summer	Winter	F, S	Summer		
Bainbridge &		2 Jumbo	3 Jumbo		2 Jumb	0		
Bremerton	4	2 Large	1 Large		1 Large)		
Bromorton					1 Mediu	m		
Clinton	2	1 Medium	1 Large		2 Mediu	m		
Cilition	2	1 L	arge					
Kingston	2	2 Ju	ımbo	2 Jumbo				
Pt. Defiance	1	1 S	mall		1 Small			
						2 sm.		
Port Townsend	1-2	1 Small	2 sm. w/shoulder	1 Small		w/shoulder		
Can luana & Cidnou	4-5	2 Large	3 Large	2 Large	1 Large 1 Med.	3 Large		
San Juans & Sidney	4-5	1 Me	dium	1 Mid-Si	ze	1 Medium		
		1 Small	1 Mid-Size		1 Smal			
Vashon-Fauntleroy	2	2 Me	edium					

	#	S	cenario <i>F</i>	\ 2025 Fleet	Reco	mmended	2025 Fleet
Route	vessels	Winter	F, S	Summer	Winter	F, S	Summer
Southworth-Fauntleroy	1		1 Me	dium			
Southworth-Vashon	1		1 S	mall			
Triangle	3					1 Mediu	ım
mangle	3					2 Mid-S	ize
Total Assigned		18	19	20	17	18	19

The differences between the deployment plan in Scenario A and in the recommended fleet are:

- Deferral of larger vessels: The recommended fleet defers the addition of larger vessels on the Bremerton, Clinton, and Triangle routes until the replacement of two Evergreen State class vessels in the 2025-29 biennia, which is outside the 16-year plan period.
- *Triangle route three-vessel service:* The Triangle route remains with three (3) vessels rather than Ferries' proposed four (4) vessel service.
- Smaller vessel on the San Juans Interisland route: The recommended fleet deploys a small vessel on the Interisland route year-round. Scenario A deploys a small vessel on the Interisland route in the winter and a mid-size vessel the rest of the year.
- Smaller vessel on Bainbridge late sailings: The recommended fleet deploys a large or, in the summer a medium, vessel rather than a jumbo vessel on the late sailings on the Bainbridge route, utilizing a vessel operating 16 hours per day on the Bremerton route.

Recommendation #13. The legislature's 16-year financial plan should assume the following deployments by 2025: Bainbridge-Bremerton routes four (4) vessels, including two (2) jumbo, one (1) large and one (1) medium; Clinton two (2) medium vessels; Kingston two (2) jumbo vessels; Point Defiance one (1) small vessel; Port Townsend two (2) small vessels; San Juans and Sidney routes five (5) vessels, including three (3) large, one (1) medium, and one (1) small (summer); and the Fauntleroy-Southworth-Vashon Triangle route three (3) vessels, including one (1) medium and two (2) mid-size.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. WSF's preferred 2025 vessel deployment differs in the following: For the Bainbridge-Bremerton route combination two (2) jumbo and two (2) large; Clinton one (1) large and one (1) medium; San Juans and Sidney four (4) large and one (1) mid-size (summer); and the Fauntleroy-Vashon-Southworth triangle route three (3) medium summer and two (2) medium and one (1) mid-size fall/winter/ spring.

d. Vessel Construction 16-Year Financial Plan

The recommended new vessel construction plan, with corresponding vessel and terminal preservation and improvement expenditures, reduces the capital plan in Scenario A by \$996.2 million over the 16-year financial plan.

The table below shows the differences in the 16-year financial plan between Scenario A and the recommended vessel construction plan.

Table 7.
New Vessel Construction Recommended vs. Scenario A

(\$ millions)

PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
Vessel Cons	struction Recommended									
944470A	Construct Island Home Vessel 1 ²⁸	49.6								49.6
944470A	Construct Island Home Vessel 2	70.6								70.6
944470A	Construct Island Home Vessel 3		72.9							72.9
944470A	Construct Island Home Vessel 4		72.9							72.9
944478A	144-Auto Vessel Construction							8.0	240.1	248.1
Total Vessel	Construction	120.2	145.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.0	240.1	514.0
Change f	rom Vessel Construction Scenario A	-44.8	-40.8	-164.5	-165.9	-176.4	-189.4	-196.5	18.5	-959.8
Vessel Pres	ervation Recommended									
944471A	Island Home # 1 Preservation				0.1	2.2	6.0	7.0	1.7	17.0
944477A	Island Home # 2 Preservation				0.1	2.2	6.0	7.0	1.7	17.0
944478B	Island Home # 3 Preservation					0.1	2.4	6.4	7.5	16.4
	Island Home # 4 Preservation					0.1	2.4	6.4	7.5	16.4
	2 mid-size preservation (4 added biennia)					3.6	3.8	4.4	5.4`	17.4
	3 large preservation (1 added biennium)								6.9	6.9
Total Vessel	Preservation				0.2	8.4	20.6	31.1	30.6	91.0
Change f	rom Vessel Preservation Scenario A				-0.2	2.4	-4.7	-8.3	-16.2	-26.9
Vessel Impr	ovement Recommended									
944476B	Island Home # 1 Improvement			0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	1.2
944477B	Island Home # 2 Improvement			0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	1.2
944478C	Island Home # 3 Improvement				0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	1.0
	Island Home #4 Improvement				0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	1.0
	2 mid-size Improvement (added 4 biennia)					0.6	0.6	8.0	8.0	2.8
	3 large Improvement (2 added biennia)							8.0	1.2	2.0
Total Vessel	Improvement			0.3	0.7	1.4	1.5	2.4	2.9	9.3
	rom Vessel Improvement Scenario A			0.0	0.1	0.6	0.4	0.8	1.0	2.9
	prov 4th Vessel on Triangle Route Rec.									
916008S	Southworth Terminal Improvement				-2.0	-10.4				-12.4
	Related to New Vessel Construction	120.2	145.7	0.3	1.0	9.8	22.1	41.5	273.6	614.3
Change fron	n Scenario A	-44.8	-40.8	-164.5	-167.9	-183.8	-193.7	-204.0	3.3	-996.2

e. Vessel Construction Alternatives

Alternatives to the construction of one small (64-auto Island Home class) vessel and one large (144-auto) vessel are outlined below.

²⁸ The 2009-11 biennium partially funds the first new Island Home, which was started with funding in the 2007-09 biennium that is not included in this table.

i. Option To Build One Less Small Vessel

To build three rather than four small vessels, the legislature could consider having one-boat service on the Port Townsend route in the summer and shoulder seasons. Ferries' Scenario A and the recommended fleet both include two vessels on this route during the summer and shoulder seasons, one of which operates 16 hours a day and the other eight hours. This was the level of service provided prior to the retirement of the Steel Electric class vessels in November 2007. If one vessel were deployed on the route, it would operate a 24-hour-a-day schedule in the summer. This is the schedule used in summer 2008 when only one vessel operated on the route.

- O *Disadvantages:* There would be fewer sailings on the Port Townsend route during the peak periods; and having only one vessel on the route would eliminate the potential for expanding service. The *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report* found that the Port Townsend route, with one vessel operating 16 hours per day and a second 8 hours a day, will have one of the highest summer percentages of auto capacity utilized and percentage of sailings sold out in the system at 2020 and 2030 projected ridership levels.
- o *Cost Savings:* During the 16-year plan period, \$93.2 million would be saved in vessel capital construction, preservation, and improvement funding from not building one small vessel. In addition, vessel operations costs would be reduced by \$39.1 million over the 16 years and vessel insurance costs by \$2.4 million.

ii. Options to Build One Less Large 144-Auto Vessel

There are three options to reduce the need to construct a large 144-auto vessel in the 2023-25 biennium. These are:

- Consolidate Sidney and San Juan Service: Ferries could consider providing the one round-trip sailing to Sidney in the fall and spring seasons and the two round-trip sailings in the summer by extending the hours of vessels otherwise assigned to the San Juan routes. The vessels assigned to the San Juan routes all currently operate 16 hours a day.
 - Disadvantage: Sidney sailings would be either very late or early. This option would also limit the potential for expanding service hours on the San Juan routes. The Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report found that the San Juan routes from Anacortes to the Islands will have one of the highest summer percentages of auto capacity utilized and percentage of sailings sold out in the system at 2020 and 2030 projected ridership levels.

- *Cost Savings:* Building one less large vessel would save \$240.1 million in capital costs in the 16-year financial plan.²⁹
- o *Purchase a Foreign Flagged Vessel for the Sidney Route:* The legislature could consider the procurement of a used vessel built outside the United States to operate on the Sidney route. Under United States law the Jones Act ships sailing between US ports must be United States flagged vessels. Ships that go between the United States and a foreign port can be foreign flagged vessels.
 - Disadvantage: The current Sidney vessel also supports some domestic San Juan Islands service, which would no longer be an option if a foreign flagged vessel were used. Under the Jones Act, a foreign flagged vessel could pick up people at multiple US ports, on the way to Sidney, as long as they all got off in Sidney and not in any of the US ports; and it could leave Sidney and let people off in multiple US ports, as long as no one got on in those interceding US ports. Today vessels sailing between Anacortes and Sidney let customers on and off at Friday Harbor.
 - Cost Savings: During the 16-year plan, having a used foreign flagged vessel would result in savings of \$235.1 million, with the cost of a used foreign flagged vessel estimated at \$5.0 million.
- Re-build a Super Class Ferry: The legislature could consider rebuilding a Super class ferry to extend its life beyond the anticipated retirement date. Ferries has extended the life of other vessel classes, such as the Evergreen State class, by investing in rebuilds relatively late in the life of the vessel.
 - *Disadvantage:* Extending the life of the Super class vessels would bring their retirement dates into the same time frame as the Jumbo Mark I vessels, compounding future vessel construction financing problems.
 - *Cost Savings:* During the 16-year plan, re-building a Super class vessel rather than constructing a new large vessel, would result in savings of \$210.1 million. The estimated cost of rebuilding a Super class vessel is \$30.0 million.

45

_

²⁹ The capital savings would occur in the 2023-25 biennium, which is the end of the 16-year plan period. Reductions in fixed vessel operations costs would occur starting in the 2025-27 biennium, which is beyond the 16-year plan period. Reductions in vessel preservation and improvement expenses would start in the 2029-31 biennium.

3. Vessel Preservation

Scenario A includes \$820.3 million for vessel preservation, of which \$702.4 million is for the preservation of existing vessels and \$117.9 million is for the preservation of new vessels.

a. Vessel Preservation Program

As discussed in the JTC's Auto-Passenger Vessel Preservation and Replacement Final Report, January 2008, and Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report, April 2009, vessel preservation is critical to the provision of stable ferry service. The JTC reports included recommendations to improve vessel preservation, which have been incorporated into Ferries Revised Draft Long-Range Plan and the Scenario A 16-year financial plan.

The improved preservation program elements include:

- An improved bilge and void preservation program
- Inspecting hull steel more frequently
- Moving hull steel to a category one priority in the life-cycle cost model (LCCM)³⁰
- Developing an improved coating (painting) program to preserve steel and the structural integrity of the vessel.

b. Out-of-service time

The *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report* recommended that by 2030 Ferries reduce planned out-of-service time for each vessel to an average of six weeks from the existing seven weeks. This recommendation does not affect fleet deployment in the 16-year plan period, during which both the recommended and the Scenario A fleets have a reserve vessel.

Out-of-service time remains a critical issue. If Ferries is to achieve the goal of a one-week reduction in out-of-service time by 2030, the process must be in place during this 16-year plan period. Reducing out-of-service time will mean that Ferries ultimately will need fewer vessels to provide the anticipated service level and will have more reserve capacity from within its fleet of fully crewed and maintained vessels.³¹

Topside painting, which is a category 2 preservation item, is the preservation project with the longest planned out-of-service time, averaging 14 to 16 weeks. The LCCM has historically assumed that topside painting will occur every five years; in actuality it occurs every seven to 10 years.

Preservation of passenger, galley, and crew areas, also category 2 preservation items, also involves significant out-of-service time. These items are scheduled every 12 years, without regard to the route primarily served by the vessel. On some routes, such as Bremerton, the passenger cabins are heavily utilized. On others, such as Mukilteo, the

³⁰ There are two priority levels in the vessel LCCM. Priority one is for vital items that affect the structural integrity and safety of the vessel, and priority two for non-vital items. Formerly steel hull preservation was considered a priority two item.

³¹ Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report, pp. 41-46.

passenger cabins are less utilized because fewer passengers walk on the vessel and the crossing is short and riders who drive on tend to stay in their automobiles during the crossing. The LCCM assumes that passenger areas on vessels serving both routes would be restored on the same time cycle.

Ferries' Eagle Harbor Repair and Maintenance Facility is primarily devoted to vessel repair, with each vessel spending an average of two weeks per year at Eagle Harbor. The State Auditor recommended in a 2006 audit that Ferries consider double shifts at Eagle Harbor. In its response to the audit, Ferries looked at the staffing costs associated with a double shift, but did not consider the potential impact on reducing out-of-service time.³²

c. Vessel Preservation Expenditures

In the 2005-07 biennium, Ferries expended 77 percent of the vessel preservation capital budget appropriated by the legislature in the 2005 session.³³ Through December 2008, which is 75 percent of the 2007-09 biennium, Ferries had expended 32 percent of its available vessel preservation capital budget. It is anticipated that Ferries will expend approximately 63 percent of its 2008 session adopted vessel preservation capital budget by the end of this biennium.

There are two reasons for this pattern of under-expenditure:

- **i.** *Emergencies:* During the 2005-07 biennium Ferries' preservation program was affected by an extended emergency repair to the *Elwha*, a large Super class 144-auto vessel that was out of service for a year as the result of an engine fire. At the beginning of the 2007-09 biennium, in November 2008, Ferries retired four Steel Electric class vessels, and began emergency inspections and repair of other vessels. This has disrupted the vessel preservation program.
- **ii.** *LCCM Constructability and Project Delivery Review:* Ferries' LCCM does not take into consideration out-of-service time and whether the vessel preservation program can be constructed and delivered as planned. As an example, the Scenario A preservation program has six topside painting projects in one biennium when only four per biennium are feasible given operational requirements. In addition, the LCCM does not balance the preservation program with planned out-of-service times for vessel improvement projects.

Recommendation #14. Vessel preservation planning should consider out-of-service time and incorporate a review of whether the program can be constructed and delivered as planned.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

Recommendation #15. The legislature should reduce the vessel preservation program by 15 percent in the 16-year plan, pending a constructability and delivery review.

³² Eagle Harbor Performance Audit Responses, November 2008, Analysis of Adding a Second Shift at Eagle Harbor. WSDOT Ferries Division.

³³ Auto-Passenger Vessel Preservation and Replacement Final Report, pp. 54-56.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. We agree that the vessel preservation program needs to be updated and reviewed for constructability. We do not concur with reducing the program unless this is warranted at the conclusion of the review. Some of the older vessels, particularly the Supers, are becoming more difficult to maintain, and we will need preservation funds to keep the fleet in service.

Recommendation #16. Ferries should aggressively pursue reducing out-of-service time, and the legislature should give priority to funding such reductions.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: In general, WSF concurs that a focus should be placed on reducing out of service time in conducting preservation including revisiting the periodicity of topside painting and renovating passenger areas. However, it may not be practical to work double shifts at Eagle Harbor; not only from a cost perspective, but also from the perspective of impacting the neighborhood community with the noise and light associated with ship maintenance. Finally, out of service time is also affected by external influences such as regulatory mandates and unplanned vessel repairs.

Recommendation #17. Ferries should consider ways to reduce out-of-service time associated with Eagle Harbor Repair and Maintenance Facility vessel work, including the potential for double shifts.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: WSF agrees that efforts should be made to reduce out of service time. WSF has been making efforts to use Eagle Harbor crews for maintenance activities during vessel preservation work periods in commercial yards. This has begun to reduce the amount of time vessels spend in Eagle Harbor. However, we believe the addition of a double shift or evening work at Eagle Harbor would be problematic and result in significant community impacts since the maintenance facility is located in a neighborhood setting.

Recommendation #18. In developing its 16-year financial plan, the legislature should assume that topside painting will occur every 10 years and request Ferries to review whether passenger space renovations are necessary every 12 years on all routes.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #19. The legislature should increase funding for topside painting projects by 30 percent in order to permit funding of an accelerated painting schedule to reduce project out-of-service time

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur. Accelerated painting schedules can be achieved subject to shipyard availability, the shipyard's subcontractors ability to double/triple shift, and time of year/weather conditions.

d. Vessel Preservation and Retirement Schedule

- i. Hyak The Hyak is a large Super class vessel that was not rebuilt at the same time as the other Super class ferries. As a consequence, Ferries planned to retire the Hyak in the 2010-15 time period. The Auto-Passenger Vessel Preservation and Replacement Final Report recommended that Ferries conduct a cost-benefit analysis of rebuilding the Hyak so that it could retire closer to its projected 60-year life. The Revised Draft Long-Range Plan recommends rebuilding the Hyak in the 2009-11 biennium, which is anticipated to extend the vessel's life until 2031. During the rebuild, Ferries will change the propulsion motor to allow the vessel to operate on two rather than four engines. The consultants concur that the Hyak should be rebuilt and recommend rebuilding its existing engine for use in another Super class vessel should an emergency need arise. This would reduce out-of-service time in the event of another motor problem, such as occurred with the Elwha.
- **ii.** Rhododendron and Evergreen State: The Rhododendron and Evergreen State are the vessels in the most urgent need of retirement. The Revised Draft Long-Range Plan anticipates continued preservation of these vessels at their drydockings in the 2009-11 biennium so that the Certifications of Inspection from the United States Coast Guard, which is required for continued operation, can be maintained. The consultants recommend that these vessels be retired and not retained as standby vessels. The Rhododendron is the last single compartment vessel in Ferries' fleet and the Evergreen State has significant problems with its propulsion control system. Both are unsuitable for use as standby vessels.

e. Vessel Preservation Recommendations

Recommendation #20. The legislature should increase funding for the Hyak renovation to rebuild its motor for use in other Super class ferries if needed in order to reduce out-of-service time.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

Recommendation #21. The legislature should not provide preservation funding for the Evergreen State or the Rhododendron, but rather allow the Certificates of Inspection for these vessels to lapse.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: If the vessel procurement plan provides for 5 boats within eight years, we concur realizing the M.V. Evergreen State will need to remain in service until the first 144 is delivered and some minimal funding will be necessary to keep it fully operational. If not (such as the CRG recommendation for 4 64's in the near future and 144s later), do not concur. M.V. Hiyu is inadequate as a stand by vessel necessitating keeping Evergreen State fully maintained and preserved as a standby until the first 144 is delivered.

f. Vessel Preservation 16-Year Financial Plan

The recommended vessel preservation capital plan is reduced by \$199.5 million over the 16-year period, of which \$148.4 million is a reduction in preservation costs of existing vessels and \$51.1 million is a reduction in preservation costs for new vessels. The decreases are the result of the vessel preservation recommendations, the recommended reduced inflation rate, and the recommended vessel construction plan.

The table below shows the difference between the recommended vessel preservation 16-year plan and Scenario A.

Table 8.
Vessel Preservation Recommended vs. Scenario A

(\$ millions)

		(φ ιτιιιιι								
PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
Jumbo Ma	ark II Class									
944499C	Recommended MV Puyallup Preservation		5.4	2.0	8.0	15.9	1.3	2.1	7.7	42.5
	Scenario A		6.5	2.5	10.1	19.1	1.7	2.9	17.5	60.3
	Difference		-1.1	-0.5	-2.1	-3.2	-0.4	-0.7	-9.7	-17.7
944499D	Recommended MV Tacoma Preservation	3.8	1.7	8.5	4.7	12.8	2.2	4.1	10.5	48.3
	Scenario A	4.5	2.0	10.5	4.7	16.5	2.8	6.9	32.4	80.2
	Difference	-0.7	-0.3	-1.9	0.0	-3.7	-0.7	-2.7	-21.9	-31.9
944499E	Recommended MV Wenatchee Preservation	0.6	4.9	9.1	4.7	6.9	8.0	2.1	10.6	46.9
	Scenario A	0.7	5.9	11.2	4.6	8.9	10.5	2.8	12.9	57.6
	Difference	-0.1	-1.0	-2.1	0.1	-2.0	-2.6	-0.7	-2.3	-10.7
Sub-Total	Recommended Jumbo Mark II Class Vessels	4.5	12.0	19.7	17.4	35.5	11.4	8.3	28.8	137.7
	Scenario A	<i>5.3</i>	14.4	24.1	19.4	44.4	15.1	12.6	62.7	198.0
	Difference	-0.8	-2.4	-4.5	-2.0	-8.9	-3.7	-4.2	-33.9	-60.3
Jumbo Ma	ark I Class									
944442B	Recommended MV Spokane Preservation	4.3	8.0	0.9	5.7	6.1	1.5	7.9	7.5	34.7
	Scenario A	5.1	0.9	1.1	7.2	6.7	2.0	18.2	10.4	51.6
	Difference	-0.8	-0.2	-0.2	-1.5	-0.6	-0.5	-10.4	-2.9	-16.9
944441B	Recommended MV Walla Walla Preservation	0.4	3.4	5.0	3.8	9.2	5.2	1.9	10.2	39.0
	Scenario A	0.4	3.4	6.1	4.8	11.9	5.5	2.6	14.2	48.8
	Difference	-0.1	0.0	-1.1	-1.0	-2.7	-0.3	-0.7	-4.0	-9.9
Sub-Total	Recommended Jumbo Mark I Class Vessels	4.7	4.1	<i>5.9</i>	9.5	<i>15.3</i>	6.7	9.8	17.7	73.7
	Scenario A	5.5	4.3	7.2	12.0	18.6	7.5	20.8	24.5	100.5
	Difference	-0.8	-0.2	-1.3	-2.5	-3.2	-0.8	-11.1	-6.9	-26.8
Super Cla	SS									
944432G	Recommended MV Elwha Preservation	4.2	0.3	5.7	6.1	4.4	0.8	2.3	0.0	23.9
	Scenario A	5.0	0.4	7.0	6.6	5.7	1.1	0.0	0.0	25.8
	Difference	-0.7	-0.1	-1.3	-0.5	-1.3	-0.3	2.3	0.0	-1.9
944431D	Recommended MV Hyak Preservation	17.6	0.1	6.2	6.8	0.2	6.1	2.3	0.1	39.3
	Scenario A	17.8	0.1	6.6	8.5	0.3	8.1	3.2	0.1	44.6
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	-0.4	-1.7	-0.1	-2.0	-0.8	0.0	-5.3
944433D	Recommended MV Kaleetan Preservation	1.3	3.0	2.5	11.9	2.8	3.9	0.6	2.6	28.5
	Scenario A	1.5	3.5	3.0	14.0	3.6	5.2	0.8	0.4	32.0
								0.0	2.2	-3.5
	Difference	-0.2	-0.6	-0.6	-2.0	-0.8	-1.3	-0.2	2.2	-3.5
944434D	Difference Recommended MV Yakima Preservation	<i>-0.2</i> 5.9			<i>-2.0</i> 9.4	<i>-0.8</i>	<i>-1.3</i> 11.6	- <i>0.2</i> 2.0	3.6	37.4
944434D			-0.6	-0.6						
944434D	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation	5.9	<i>-0.6</i>	<i>-0.6</i> 2.7	9.4	1.6	11.6	2.0	3.6	37.4
	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A	5.9 6.2	- <i>0.6</i> 0.6 0.7	-0.6 2.7 3.3	9.4 11.8	1.6 2.1	11.6 14.1	2.0 2.7	3.6 1.8	37.4 42.7
	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A Difference	5.9 6.2 -0.2	-0.6 0.6 0.7 -0.1	-0.6 2.7 3.3 -0.6	9.4 11.8 <i>-2.4</i>	1.6 2.1 -0.5	11.6 14.1 -2.5	2.0 2.7 -0.7	3.6 1.8 <i>1.8</i>	37.4 42.7 -5.3
	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels	5.9 6.2 -0.2 29.0	-0.6 0.6 0.7 -0.1 3.9	-0.6 2.7 3.3 -0.6 17.1	9.4 11.8 -2.4 34.2	1.6 2.1 -0.5 9.0	11.6 14.1 -2.5 22.5	2.0 2.7 -0.7 7.2	3.6 1.8 1.8 6.2	37.4 42.7 -5.3 129.1
	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference	5.9 6.2 -0.2 29.0 30.4	-0.6 0.6 0.7 -0.1 3.9 4.7	-0.6 2.7 3.3 -0.6 17.1 20.0	9.4 11.8 -2.4 34.2 40.9	1.6 2.1 -0.5 9.0 11.6	11.6 14.1 -2.5 22.5 28.5	2.0 2.7 -0.7 7.2 6.7	3.6 1.8 1.8 6.2 2.3	37.4 42.7 -5.3 129.1 145.1
Sub-Total	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference	5.9 6.2 -0.2 29.0 30.4	-0.6 0.6 0.7 -0.1 3.9 4.7	-0.6 2.7 3.3 -0.6 17.1 20.0	9.4 11.8 -2.4 34.2 40.9	1.6 2.1 -0.5 9.0 11.6	11.6 14.1 -2.5 22.5 28.5	2.0 2.7 -0.7 7.2 6.7	3.6 1.8 1.8 6.2 2.3	37.4 42.7 -5.3 129.1 145.1
Sub-Total	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference Class	5.9 6.2 -0.2 29.0 30.4 -1.4	-0.6 0.6 0.7 -0.1 3.9 4.7 -0.8	-0.6 2.7 3.3 -0.6 17.1 20.0 -2.9	9.4 11.8 -2.4 34.2 40.9 -6.8	1.6 2.1 -0.5 9.0 11.6 -2.6	11.6 14.1 -2.5 22.5 28.5 -6.0	2.0 2.7 -0.7 7.2 6.7 0.5	3.6 1.8 1.8 6.2 2.3 3.9	37.4 42.7 -5.3 129.1 145.1 -16.1
Sub-Total	Recommended MV Yakima Preservation Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference Class Recommended MV Cathlamet Preservation	5.9 6.2 -0.2 29.0 30.4 -1.4	-0.6 0.6 0.7 -0.1 3.9 4.7 -0.8	-0.6 2.7 3.3 -0.6 17.1 20.0 -2.9	9.4 11.8 -2.4 34.2 40.9 -6.8	1.6 2.1 -0.5 9.0 11.6 -2.6	11.6 14.1 -2.5 22.5 28.5 -6.0	2.0 2.7 -0.7 7.2 6.7 0.5	3.6 1.8 1.8 6.2 2.3 3.9	37.4 42.7 -5.3 129.1 145.1 -16.1

PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
	Scenario A	1.3	0.8	2.8	4.2	4.3	5.7	15.0	4.2	38.3
	Difference	-0.1	-0.1	-0.5	-0.9	-1.0	-1.4	-3.9	-1.2	-9.1
944401D	Recommended MV Issaquah Preservation	3.0	2.3	1.5	5.1	0.6	4.7	6.0	3.9	27.1
	Scenario A	3.6	2.8	1.8	5.5	0.8	6.2	17.8	5.4	43.8
	Difference	-0.5	-0.5	-0.3	-0.4	-0.2	-1.5	-11.8	-1.5	-16.8
944403D	Recommended MV Kitsap Preservation	2.2	0.1	2.3	8.7	4.2	3.6	4.1	5.2	30.4
	Scenario A	2.4	0.1	2.8	10.9	4.5	4.7	5.6	7.2	38.3
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	-0.5	-2.2	-0.3	-1.1	-1.5	-2.0	-7.9
944402D	Recommended MV Kittitas Preservation	1.5	0.3	3.1	1.8	4.6	4.4	6.4	5.9	28.1
	Scenario A	1.6	0.4	3.8	2.3	5.0	5.9	8.7	8.2	35.8
	Difference	-0.1	-0.1	-0.7	-0.5	-0.4	-1.4	-2.3	-2.3	-7.7
944406D	Recommended MV Sealth Preservation	0.3	0.6	1.1	6.2	2.0	4.0	5.5	6.6	26.3
	Scenario A	0.3	0.7	1.3	7.0	2.6	5.3	7.5	9.2	34.0
	Difference	0.0	-0.1	-0.2	-0.8	-0.6	-1.3	-2.0	-2.6	-7.6
Sub-Total	Recommended Issaquah Class Vessels	8.3	7.4	14.5	25.8	17.3	26.2	45.0	31.0	175.5
	Scenario A	9.3	8.8	16.9	30.8	20.4	34.7	69.5	43.1	233.5
	Difference	-1.0	-1.4	-2.5	-5.0	-3.1	-8.4	-24.5	-12.1	-58.0
Evergreen	State Class Vessels									
944410F	MV Evergreen St Preservation									
	Scenario A	0.9	0.3							1.2
	Difference	-0.9	-0.3							-1.2
944412C	MV Klahowya Preservation	1.6	2.1	4.4	1.1	2.1	1.9	2.2	2.7	18.1
	Scenario A	1.9	2.5	4.7	1.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.8
	Difference	-0.3	-0.4	-0.3	-0.3	1.8	1.9	2.2	2.7	7.4
944413B	MV Tillikum Preservation	1.7	1.4	4.4	0.8	1.8	1.9	2.2	2.7	17.1
	Scenario A	2.0	1.7	4.6	1.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	9.4
	Difference	-0.3	-0.3	-0.2	-0.2	1.8	1.9	2.2	2.7	7.6
Sub-Total	Recommended Evergreen State Class Vessels	3.3	3.5	8.9	1.9	3.9	3.8	4.4	5.5	35.2
	Scenario A	4.8	4.5	9.4	2.4	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	21.4
	Difference	-1.5	-1.0	-0.5	-0.5	3.6	3.8	4.4	5.5	13.8
Hiyu Class	S									
944451C	MV Hiyu Preservation	0.5	0.1	1.1	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.0		2.8
	Scenario A	0.6	0.2	1.2	0.9	0.2	0.2	0.1		3.3
	Difference	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	-0.1	0.0		-0.5
Rhododen	dron Class									
944452B	MV Rhododendron Preservation									
	Scenario A	0.4	0.1							0.5
	Difference	-0.4	-0.1							-0.5
Total Exist	ting Vessel Preservation Recommended	50.3	31.1	67.0	89.5	81.3	70.8	74.7	89.2	553.9
	Scenario A	56.3	37.0	78.9	106.4	95.6	86.0	109.6	132.6	702.4
	Difference	-6.0	-5.9	-11.8	-16.9	-14.3	-15.2	-34.9	-43.4	-148.4
New Vesse	el Preservation Recommended	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	4.7	16.8	26.8	18.3	66.8
	Scenario A				0.4	6.0	25.3	39.4	46.8	117.9
	Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-1.3	-8.5	-12.6	-28.5	-51.1
Total Vess	sel Preservation Recommended	50.3	31.1	67.0	89.8	86.0	87.6	101.5	107.5	620.8
	Scenario A	56.3	37.0	78.9	106.8	101.6	111.3	149.0	179.4	820.3
	<i>Difference</i>	-6.0	-5.9	-11.8	-17.0	-15.6	-23.7	-47.5	-71.9	-199.5

4. Vessel Improvement

Scenario A includes \$60.9 million for vessel improvement during the 16-year plan period, of which \$54.5 million is for improvement of existing vessels and \$6.4 million is for improvement of new vessels.

a. Regulatory Reserve

Of the \$54.5 million for the improvement of existing vessels, \$49.2 million is a reserve for improvements that may be necessary to meet federal United States Coast Guard or Clean Air Act regulatory requirements. All of the \$6.4 million for improvement of new vessels is for this reserve.

b. Fuel Efficiency Improvements

Scenario A includes two fuel efficiency improvement: \$6.7 million for the installation of new propulsion motors in two Super class (144-auto) vessels and \$2.2 million for the installation of waste heat recovery systems in the Issaquah class (124-auto) vessels.

- Super class vessels fuel efficiency improvements. Upgraded engines would be installed in two of the Super class vessels to enable the vessels to run on two engines instead of four. Each installation is anticipated to take the vessel out of service for eight (8) weeks. The anticipated payback period for the investment is 4.4 years assuming fuel costs of \$2.26 per gallon. As noted above, this same improvement will be made on the *Hyak* during its rebuild.³⁴
- Issaquah class vessels fuel efficiency improvements. Scenario A proposes to change the heating system on the Issaquah class vessels from diesel burning steam boilers to a system that utilizes waste heat from the propulsion engines to heat the vessel most of the time. The consultants note that waste heat recovery has not proven to be cost effective even on large ocean going ships that run 90 percent of the time at full power. The cost associated with the installation is more than the fuel saved. In addition, maintenance and repair of engines and related waste heat recovery equipment increases the total maintenance and repair costs for the vessel appreciably. The difficulties of making this an economic investment would be compounded because ferries, unlike ocean going vessels, run at full power a very small percentage of the time and heat would not be provided from waste heat during maneuvering or when the vessel is berthed for loading and unloading.

Recommendation #22. The legislature should fund the fuel efficiency improvement on one of the Super class ferries in addition to the re-build of the Hyak (which will include a new propulsion engine) to minimize out-of-service time and to determine whether the modification is cost-effective.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

³⁴ The fourth Super Class vessel, the *Elwha*, has a different propulsion control motor and would not receive the upgrade.

Recommendation #23. The legislature should not fund the fuel efficiency project proposed for the Issaquah class ferries because waste heat recovery has not proven to be a cost-effective fuel conservation investment.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. Waste heat recovery is a viable fuel consumption reduction methodology with an estimated payback of 5 years in this case. Recommend a pilot project on one Issaquah class vessel to validate the concept.

c. Other Improvements

Scenario A includes \$1.0 million for steering gear ventilation for the Jumbo Mark II (202-auto) and Jumbo Mark I (188-auto) class vessels. Ferries has not completed an analysis of the steering gear problem nor engineered a solution.

Recommendation #24. The legislature should appropriate \$50,000 for an analysis of the steering gear ventilation requirements for the Jumbo Mark II and Jumbo Mark I vessels rather than the \$1.0 million included in Scenario A in order to ensure legislative understanding of the costs and benefits associated with the proposed solution.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

d. Vessel Improvement 16-Year Financial Plan

The recommended vessel improvement capital plan is reduced by \$7.2 million over the 16-year period, of which \$5.2 million is a reduction in improvement costs of existing vessels and \$1.9 million is a reduction in improvement costs for new vessels. The decreases are the result of the vessel improvement recommendations, the recommended reduced inflation rate, and the recommended vessel construction plan.

The table below shows the difference between the recommended vessel improvement 16-year plan and Scenario A.

Table 9. Vessel Improvement Recommended vs. Scenario A (\$ millions)

		(\$ milli								
PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
Jumbo Ma	ark II Class									
944499F	Recommended MV Puyallup Improvement	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
	Scenario A	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.0
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4
944499G	Recommended MV Tacoma Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
	Scenario A	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.0
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4
944499H	Recommended MV Wenatchee Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
	Scenario A	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.0
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4
Sub-Total	Recommended Jumbo Mark II Class Vessels	1.0	0.8	0.8	0.9	1.0	1.0	1.1	1.2	7.8
	Scenario A	1.6	0.8	0.9	1.0	1.1	1.2	1.3	1.4	9.1
	Difference	-0.6	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.2	-0.2	-1.3
Jumbo Ma	ork I Class									
944442B	Recommended MV Spokane Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
	Scenario A	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.0
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4
944441B	Recommended MV Walla Walla Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
	Scenario A	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.0
	Difference	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4
Sub-Total	Recommended Jumbo Mark I Class Vessels	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.8	<i>5.2</i>
	Scenario A	1.0	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.9	6.1
	Difference	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.9
Super Clas	SS									
944432G		0.0		0.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.0	2.1
	Recommended MV Elwha Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.0	۷.۱
	Recommended MV Elwha Improvement Scenario A	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.4	0.0	1.5
944431D	Scenario A	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.5
944431D	Scenario A Difference	0.3 0.0	0.3 <i>0.0</i>	0.3 <i>0.0</i>	0.3 <i>0.0</i>	0.4 0.0	0.0 <i>0.3</i>	0.0 <i>0.4</i>	0.0 <i>0.0</i>	1.5 <i>0.6</i>
944431D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement	0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3	0.0 0.3 0.3	0.0 0.4 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4	1.5 <i>0.6</i> 2.5
944431D 944433D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8
	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2
	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1
	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5
944433D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7
944433D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.7 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2
944433D 944434D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4	0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4
944433D 944434D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A Difference	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3 -3.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4 -3.2
944433D 944434D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3 -3.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.1	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.1	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.3	0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.4	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.7 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4 -3.2 13.0
944433D 944434D	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3 -3.0 4.7	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.3	0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.4 1.2	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 1.5	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4 -3.2 13.0
944433D 944434D <i>Sub-Total</i>	Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3 -3.0 4.7	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.3	0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.4 1.2	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 -0.1 1.5	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4 -3.2 13.0 15.1
944433D 944434D <i>Sub-Total</i> Issaquah (Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference Class	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3 -3.0 4.7 7.7	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.1 1.1	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.1 1.2 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.3 1.4 -0.1	0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.4 1.2 0.2	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4 -3.2 13.0 15.1 -2.1
944433D 944434D <i>Sub-Total</i> Issaquah (Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Hyak Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Kaleetan Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended MV Yakima Improvement Scenario A Difference Recommended Super Class Vessels Scenario A Difference Class Recommended MV Cathlamet Improvement	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 3.9 3.9 0.0 0.3 3.3 -3.0 4.7 7.7 -3.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.1 1.1 0.0	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.3	0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.3 1.4 -0.1	0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.4 1.2 0.2	0.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.4	0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 -0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1.5 0.6 2.5 2.8 -0.2 6.1 5.5 0.7 2.2 5.4 -3.2 13.0 15.1 -2.1

944401D Recommended MV Issaquah Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.8	PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
944401D Recommended MV Issaquah Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.8		Scenario A	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.2
Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.8		Difference	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.7
Millerence	944401D	Recommended MV Issaquah Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.5
944403D Recommended MV Kitsap Improvement		Scenario A	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	2.8
Scenario A		Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.2
Difference	944403D	Recommended MV Kitsap Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.5
944402D Recommended MV Kititlas Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 2.6 Scenario A 0.7 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 3.2 Difference -0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0		Scenario A	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.2
Scenario A		Difference	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.6
Difference	944402D	Recommended MV Kittitas Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
944406D Recommended MV Sealth Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 3.2 Scenario A 0.7 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 3.2 Scenario A 3.7 1.6 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.1 2.2 2.4 15.2 Evergreen State Class Vessels 944110F MV Evergreen St Improvement 1.2 1.4 1.9 2.1 2.3 2.5 2.8 18.8 944110F MV Evergreen St Improvement 1.2 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4		Scenario A	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.2
Scenario A 0.7 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 3.2		Difference	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.6
Difference	944406D	Recommended MV Sealth Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.5
Sub-Total Recommended Issaquah Class Vessels 1.6 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 2.1 2.2 2.4 15.2		Scenario A	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	3.2
Scenario A 3.7 1.6 1.8 1.9 2.1 2.3 2.5 2.8 18.8		Difference	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.7
Difference -2.2 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.3 -0.3 -0.4 -3.6	Sub-Total	Recommended Issaquah Class Vessels	1.6	1.6	1.7	1.8	1.9	2.1	2.2	2.4	15.2
Evergreen State Class Vessels		Scenario A	3.7	1.6	1.8	1.9	2.1	2.3	2.5	2.8	18.8
944410F MV Evergreen St Improvement Scenario A Difference 944412C MV Klahowya Improvement O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.4 O.4 O.4 0.5 Scenario A Difference O.0 O.0 O.0 O.0 O.0 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.4 O.4 O.4 0.4 944413B MV Tillikum Improvement O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.4 O.4 O.4 0.4 944413B MV Tillikum Improvement O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.3 O.4 O.4 O.4 0.4 95 Scenario A Scenario A O.0		Difference	-2.2	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.2	-0.3	-0.3	-0.4	-3.6
Scenario A Difference Dif	Evergreen	State Class Vessels									
MV Klahowya Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 2.5	944410F	MV Evergreen St Improvement									
944412C MV Klahowya Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 2.5 Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 <td< td=""><td></td><td>Scenario A</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>		Scenario A									
Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1		Difference									
Difference	944412C	MV Klahowya Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.5
944413B MV Tillikum Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 2.6 Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 <th< td=""><td></td><td>Scenario A</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>1.1</td></th<>		Scenario A	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.1
Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 1.7 Sub-Total Recommended Evergreen State Class Vessels 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.8 5.1 Scenario A 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.8 3.1 Hiyu Class		Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	1.4
Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 1.7	944413B	MV Tillikum Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
Sub-Total Recommended Evergreen State Class Vessels 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.8 5.1 Scenario A 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 <td< td=""><td></td><td>Scenario A</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.9</td></td<>		Scenario A	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.9
Scenario A 0.6 0.5 0.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0		Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	1.7
Difference	Sub-Total	Recommended Evergreen State Class Vessels	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.8	5.1
Hiyu Class		Scenario A	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.0
944451C MV Hiyu Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 2.6 Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.8 Rhododendron Class 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 <t< td=""><td></td><td>Difference</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.6</td><td>0.7</td><td>0.7</td><td>0.8</td><td>3.1</td></t<>		Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.8	3.1
Scenario A 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 2.8	Hiyu Class										
Difference Dif	944451C	MV Hiyu Improvement	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	2.6
Difference Dif		Scenario A	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	2.8
944452B MV Rhododendron Improvement 0.3 0.3 0.5 Scenario A 0.0 0.0 0.5 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 Total Existing Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.1 5.4 5.8 6.2 6.6 6.3 49.2 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.8 5.9 6.0 54.5 New Vessel Improvement Recommended 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 4.5 Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0		Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		-0.1	-0.2
Scenario A 0.3 0.0 0.5 Difference 0.0 4.7 5.1 5.4 5.8 6.2 6.6 6.3 49.2 Total Existing Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.1 5.4 5.8 6.2 6.6 6.3 49.2 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.8 5.9 6.0 54.5 New Vessel Improvement Recommended 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 4.5 Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9	Rhododen	dron Class									
Difference 0.0 4.7 5.1 5.4 5.8 6.2 6.6 6.3 49.2 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.8 5.9 6.0 54.5 Difference -6.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.3 -5.2 New Vessel Improvement Recommended 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 4.5 Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7	944452B	MV Rhododendron Improvement	0.3								0.3
Total Existing Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.1 5.4 5.8 6.2 6.6 6.3 49.2 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.8 5.9 6.0 54.5 Difference -6.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.3 -5.2 New Vessel Improvement Recommended 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 4.5 Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9		Scenario A	0.3								0.5
Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.8 5.9 6.0 54.5 Difference -6.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.3 -5.2 New Vessel Improvement Recommended 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 4.5 Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9		Difference	0.0								-0.2
Difference -6.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.3 -5.2	Total Exist	ting Vessel Improvement Recommended	9.0	4.7	5.1	5.4	5.8	6.2	6.6	6.3	49.2
New Vessel Improvement Recommended 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 4.5 Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9		Scenario A	15.2	4.8	5.3	5.5	5.6	5.8	5.9	6.0	54.5
Scenario A 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.2 1.5 2.0 6.4 Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9		Difference	-6.1	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	0.1	0.4	0.7	0.3	-5.2
Difference 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.6 -1.0 -1.9 Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9	New Vesse	el Improvement Recommended	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.9	0.9	4.5
Total Vessel Improvement Recommended 9.0 4.7 5.4 6.1 6.6 7.0 7.5 7.2 53.7 Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9		Scenario A			0.4	0.6	0.8	1.2	1.5	2.0	6.4
Scenario A 15.2 4.8 5.6 6.1 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 60.9		Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.1	-0.3	-0.6	-1.0	-1.9
	Total Vess	el Improvement Recommended	9.0	4.7	5.4	6.1	6.6	7.0	7.5	7.2	53.7
Difference -6.1 -0.1 -0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 -0.7 -7.2		Scenario A	15.2	4.8	5.6	6.1	6.5	7.0	7.5	8.0	60.9
		Difference	-6.1	-0.1	-0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	-0.7	-7.2

5. Vessel Policy Recommendations

a. Pre-Design Process

ESHB 2358 requires Ferries to submit a pre-design report to the legislature for all terminal improvement projects and for terminal preservation projects over \$5.0 million. The consultants recommend that Ferries be required to submit a pre-design report for vessel construction and improvement projects and for vessel preservation projects over \$5.0 million. The pre-design process would provide the legislature with an opportunity to review assumptions and cost estimates for new vessels, and the costs and benefits of vessel improvements and major preservation projects, before appropriating design and construction funds.

Recommendation #25. The legislature should require a pre-design report for vessel construction and improvement projects and for vessel preservation projects over \$5.0 million.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. Concur with the value of completing pre-design studies for construction, preservation, and improvement projects. However, the thresholds should be revised to: 1) All new construction; 2) \$15.0 million for major renovations (preservation); and 3) Improvements \$5 million for complete programs (not on vessel by vessel basis). For improvements mandated by regulatory agencies, only an appropriately scaled pre-design study should be necessary.

b. Out-of-Service Assessment

Reducing planned out-of-service time will help stabilize ferry service while reducing the number of vessels needed to provide a given level of service. As part of its pre-design report on new vessel construction, Ferries should provide a projection of out-of-service time, identify alternative designs that would reduce out-of-service time, and provide a life cycle cost analysis that considers out-of-service time. Examples of design decisions that have an effect on planned out-of-service time include furnishing materials, stainless steel vs. steel tanks, and aluminum superstructures.

Recommendation #26. The legislature should require as part of the pre-design process for new vessel construction a projection of out-of-service time and a life-cycle cost analysis of alternatives that would reduce planned out-of-service time. The life-cycle cost analysis should consider the impact on fleet size.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

c. New Vessel Construction Design and Management

The Capital Program Staffing and Administration Final Report, April 2008, recommended that Ferries review its Vessel Engineering division to ensure core competency and a focus on vessel preservation. The corollary of this recommendation is that Ferries should not focus its staff on new vessel construction. Alternatives to be considered include:

- Existing designs. The Island Home vessel now under construction was adapted from a vessel designed for the Woods Hole, Martha's Vineyard and Nantucket Steamship Company. It has taken Ferries approximately 12 months to adapt the design, bid, and award a contract for this vessel. By contrast, Ferries has been working on the new 144-auto vessels for approximately 10 years. In addition to being faster and less expensive to design, an existing vessel also has the advantage of having real experience on which to project fuel and other operational characteristics.
- *Third party vessel construction management*. Third party management of vessel construction is a process by which an owner, such as the Ferry system, contracts with another entity to oversee the design and construction of new vessels.
- Improve use of design-build process. With or without use of third party construction management, Ferries should improve its use of the design-build process that has been authorized by the legislature. There are generally two ways to design and build vessels. One way is for the owner, such as Ferries, to prepare a concept design of what is desired and then contract with a naval architecture firm or a shipyard for the contract design upon which the construction bidding and price is based. A second way is for an owner, such as Ferries, with an inside design team to prepare all contract design, supportive engineering, specifications, contracts, model testing, engineering analysis of vibration, speed and power and give all materials to the shipyard upon which the yard will base the construction price. Ferries does neither of these. Ferries spends considerable time and money to produce an unusually detailed concept, but they do not have a contract design because they lack the internal capacity to do so. They then contract with a naval architect or shipyard to complete the design, which is now being done by Todd Shipyards for the 144-auto ferry. This dilutes responsibility for the design and makes it more expensive. For instance, although Ferries has developed and model tested the lines of the new 144-auto vessel that affect speed and the power required, they let the naval architect and shipyard modify the lines to make the vessel easier to build. There is no requirement to re-test the lines and no responsibility is placed upon the shipyard for performance because of the shipyard changes made. While Ferries has gone to great detail to specify certain items in the design, there is not the same degree of analysis as to the weight of the vessel and therefore no strict requirements on the shipyard to meet some weight target. (Weight targets are critical for fuel conservation.) Specifications give requirements for vibration and noise, but as the design prepared by Ferries has not really developed vibration and noise analysis, and anything the naval architect/shipyard does will be based upon what was submitted by Ferries, the naval architect/shipyard can always claim it was Ferries' data. The end result is that there is really no one responsible for the final design and any problems that may develop operationally.
- *Link pre-design process to design-build*. The pre-design process can be effectively integrated with the design-build process by having the pre-design report include the conceptual design that would form the basis for the initiation of a design-build process.

Recommendation #27. Ferries and the legislature should consider existing designs prior to launching new designs for vessels, consider third party management of new vessel design and construction, and ensure that the design-build process is integrated with the pre-design report process and used effectively to expedite vessel design and construction at minimum cost to the state.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur with considering existing designs before starting a new design for new ferries and ensuring the design build process is integrated with the pre-design report. Do not concur with recommendation to employ third party vessel construction management. Believe it adds costs while reducing the probability of delivering vessels that fully meet state requirements.

B. Terminal Capital Expenses

In Ferries Scenario A 16-year capital program, the terminal capital costs of \$1,251.2 million are 30 percent of all capital expenses.

1. Terminal Preservation

Scenario A includes \$860.3 million for terminal preservation in the 16-year plan.

a. Scoping and Cost Estimates

Ferries has, in conformance with legislative direction, updated its terminal life cycle cost model (LCCM). The update of the LCCM included a review of the standard life cycles of structures, condition updates of all inventory elements, and the deletion of items that do not have a standard service life. The financial result of the review was a \$106.0 million reduction in needed terminal preservation projects over the 2007-23 16-year financial plan.

The LCCM is the basis for the development of project scopes and capital cost estimates for terminal preservation sub-projects identified by Work Order Identification Numbers (WINS). WINS are combined to form a total preservation project, which are identified by Project Identification Numbers (PINS). Ferries has recently initiated a revised scoping and cost estimating process for terminals that resulted in scoping level estimates for preservation WINS occurring within the first six years of the 16-year Scenario A plan.

The consultants reviewed scoping documents and capital cost estimates for 22 preservation WINS.

• Cost Estimating – Percentage Allowances

Ferries' estimates are intended to conform to WSDOT guidelines for percentage allowances (percentage of construction costs) for preliminary and construction engineering, contingencies, mobilization and other costs.³⁵ The consultants found:

³⁵ The consultants reviewed the following WSDOT cost estimating resources: WSDOT Cost Estimating Guidelines for WSDOT Projects, 2008; Plans Preparation Manual; EBase User's Guide; WSDOT Unit Bid Analysis, an online tool for determining historical costs on WSDOT projects; and Bridge Design Manual (Chapter 12).

- o Ferries has, as a result of updating its LCCM, good system-wide unit cost data. The historical cost data are excellent.
- o WSDOT has reasonable standards for percentage allowances for preliminary and construction engineering.
- o WSDOT has a consistent methodology for cost estimating.
- Ferries does not consistently follow the WSDOT standards for preliminary and construction engineering, frequently applying percentages that are higher than the guidelines.
- o Ferries applies preliminary engineering percentages to the entire construction cost, including construction engineering, contingency, sales tax, and operations support. Normal industry practice is to apply the preliminary engineering percentage to the construction cost only, excluding costs that are not direct construction costs.
- O Mobilization cost percentage guidelines for WSDOT projects are between 7 and 10 percent. Ferries consistently uses 9 percent. The WSDOT mobilization cost estimate is based on highway and bridge work, which has a much heavier use of major equipment that must be moved to the site than does Ferries' work. It is not appropriate for Ferries to be using the higher end of the mobilization cost estimating range.
- o WSDOT manuals allow a 30 to 50 percent design allowance at the scoping stage of a project. A more normal industry standard is 20 percent. The consultants believe that the three reasons given by Ferries for using these high design allowances are not justified:
 - *Geotechnical* In most terminal situations Ferries is doing work in the same areas where they have done previous work. Ferries should be able to estimate the soils effects of their structures with a much higher degree of accuracy than for a typical WSDOT project.
 - Environmental Issues These costs should be identified and carried as a separate allowance rather than being included as a general percentage in a design allowance.
 - *Tribal Mitigation* Ferries has separate estimates for tribal mitigation, which should not then also be part of the design allowance.

• Unit Cost Estimates

- o Ferries adds additional contingencies in their individual unit cost estimating, which are added before the contingency percentages are applied. In the WINS reviewed by the consultants, these additional contingencies or "adders" were as high as 15 percent on some items.
- o Ferries, in some instances, used different inventory quantities for their cost estimates than exist. For example, a cost estimate for the Fauntleroy terminal trestle included 51,000 square feet of trestle when there are only 41,000 square feet.

O Unit costs for some items are over-stated. For example, Ferries assumed \$375.00 per square foot for the construction of 25,000 square feet of the terminal building in Seattle, when a very high end building cost should not exceed \$250.00 per square foot. In addition, Ferries added a 10 percent contingency to the \$375.00 per square foot unit cost estimate bringing it to \$413.00 per square foot—before normal contingencies for preliminary engineering etc. were added..

Project Budgets in Scenario A

- O Project budgets were higher in Scenario A than Ferries projected in their scoping estimates, with the exception of the Southworth trestle, which was under-budgeted.³⁶
- o In some instances, the Scenario A budget treated WINS as separate projects with separate mobilization and other costs, when the projects would be more cost effective if done together. For example, Scenario A assumed the Seattle terminal building would be replaced separately from the replacement of the trestle under the building with an added budget cost of \$39.3 million. While possible, replacing the building separately from the trestle would, in Ferries' estimation, likely double or triple the complexity of the trestle work. The projects should be budgeted as though they will be done together since that is the logical way to construct the project.

• Revised Preservation WINS Budgets

The total cost reduction, for the same scope of work, from the consultants' review of cost estimates for 22 preservation WINS is \$140.0 million or 28 percent as shown in the table below. The revised cost includes correcting the budget for the Southworth trestle, and assumes that the Seattle terminal building and trestle are combined into one project. All revised cost estimates are included in Appendix IV.

Table 10.
Terminal Preservation Cost Estimating Review

(\$ millions) 16 YR Capital Cost (Same Scope) WIN Title Scenario A Recommended Difference % Recommended Preservation Projects Reviewed Anacortes Tie-Up Slip Preservation M03352A 13.2 9.0 -4.2 -32% 2.9 Bremerton Slip 2 Wingwall Replacement 4.3 -1.4 -33% M03508A M03912A Fauntleroy Terminal Replacement 66.7 46.5 -20.2 -30% Friday Harbor Timber Trestle Replacement M04012A 15.0 11.0 -4.0 -27% **Keystone Wingwall Preservation** 2.7 -2.1 -44% M04112A 4.8 Lopez Wingwall 7.0 -22% M04312A 9.0 -2.0 Orcas Dolphin Preservation 1.2 -0.2 -12% M04512A 1.4 M04511A Orcas Trestle Replacement 4.9 3.4 -1.5 -31% Point Defiance Terminal Preservation 4.1 -1.7 -29% M04611A 5.8 Port Townsend Dolphin Preservation Slip 1 M04722A 4.2 3.6 -0.6 -14%

³⁶ Ferries indicated that they did not know the source of the error in the Southworth trestle budget.

	16 YR Capital Cost (Same Scope)				
WIN	Title	Scenario A	Recommended	Difference	%
M04735A	Port Townsend Dolphin Preservation Slip 2	3.7	3.2	-0.5	-14%
M04731A	Port Townsend Slip 1 Preservation	11.8	8.7	-3.1	-26%
M04732A	Port Townsend Slip 2 Transfer Span Preservation	14.4	10.8	-3.6	-25%
M04839A	Seattle Slip 3 Transfer Span Preservation	13.9	11.0	-2.9	-21%
M04842A	Seattle Slip 2 Overhead Loading Preservation	2.9	2.2	-0.7	-25%
M04843A	Seattle Slip 3 Overhead Loading Preservation	28.6	21.4	-7.2	-25%
M04854A	Seattle Slip 2 Life Extension	5.0	3.6	-1.4	-28%
M04841A/M04846A	Seattle Terminal Building & Trestle	216.6	140.1	-76.5	-35%
M04904A	Shaw Dolphin Preservation	4.0	3.2	-0.8	-19%
M05003A	Southworth Trestle Preservation*	10.9	20.1	9.2	85%
M05104A	Tahlequah Trestle Replacement	8.5	5.4	-3.1	-36%
M05204A	Vashon Trestle Preservation	52.5	41.0	-11.5	-22%
Total Preservation S	502.1	362.1	-140.0	-28%	

^{*} Project mistakenly under-budgeted in Scenario A.

• Performance Measure

One of WSDOT and Ferries' performance goals is to have 100 percent of projects within budget.³⁷ This goal may foster an environment in which projects are generously budgeted in order to avoid going over budget.

Recommendation #28. Ferries should revise its terminal cost estimating procedures to provide more consistent and tighter cost estimating, including an internal control to ensure that unit prices and the application of design and other allowances are reasonable.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur. Working on improvements.

Recommendation #29. Ferries should revise its budget development process to ensure that: terminal sub-projects are reviewed for constructability, with cost reductions for combining WINS into single construction projects incorporated in the capital 16-year plan; and that the capital budget reflects the scoping estimates.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

Recommendation #30. Ferries should revise its capital construction performance goals to encourage the development of reasonable project cost estimates.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur. The Asset Management Program will revise performance goals.

Recommendation #31. The legislature should approve project funding at a level consistent with the revised cost estimates for the 22 terminal preservation WINS reviewed by the consultants.

_

³⁷ WSDOT Business Directions, 2009-15. p. 34

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: No response.

b. Category 2 Terminal Preservation

The terminal LCCM divides assets into two categories:

- Category 1: Includes main and auxiliary slips and security items. These are considered the most essential items for preservation funding.
- Category 2: Includes tie-up slips and upland assets such as parking lots and terminal buildings.

Ferries' performance goal for Category 2 terminal preservation investments is a preservation needs percentage $(PNP)^{38}$ of 20 to 40 percent. At the end of the Scenario A 16-year plan, Ferries would have a Category 2 PNP of 6 percent, well above the performance goal, with three terminals meeting the Category 2 performance objective, one under, and 16 over the goal.³⁹

To bring the Category 2 preservation program into closer alignment with the performance goal, the consultants reviewed:

- Category 2 assets. The consultants requested Ferries to review its planned expenditures for Category 2 assets and recommend reductions that would bring those expenditures closer to the performance goal. Ferries identified total reductions of \$34.3 million over the 16-year plan including: Anacortes vendor storage and tie-up slip 2 (\$3.1 million); Bainbridge emergency generator shelter (\$0.3 million); Bremerton toll booths (\$2.1 million); Eagle Harbor slips A, C, D, and F (\$19.7 million); Fauntleroy traffic lanes (\$0.1 million); Friday Harbor customs booth and uplands holding area (\$1.1 million); Kingston tie-up slip 3, storage buildings, and covered vehicle parking (\$1.4 million); Point Defiance storage buildings (\$0.4 million); Seattle toll booths and canopy (\$4.5 million); and Southworth toll booths (\$1.6 million).
- Uplands paving program. Ferries is reviewing its uplands paving program for parking lots and access roads exploring the potential of asphalt overlays with intermediate chip seals as an alternative to full repaying. The consultants recommend reducing uplands paving costs by 50 percent in anticipation of the full review. This would reduce Category 2 preservation by \$12.5 million over the 16year plan.
- Eagle Harbor passenger-only ferry (POF) vessel facilities. Scenario A continues to preserve POF vessel facilities at the Eagle Harbor Repair & Maintenance Facility. It does not appear likely that King County, now operating the Vashon-Seattle POF service, will need the Eagle Harbor POF vessel facilities. The consultants recommend eliminating this funding, which will reduce Category 2 preservation by \$1.5 million over the 16-year plan period.

³⁸ Preservation needs percentage is the percentage of systems that are not preserved within the projected replacement period.

Ferries' response to consultant questions Feb. 7, 2009 modifying WSF 10-20-08 Budget Request Document, p. 7. 63

Recommendation #32. The legislature should reduce Category 2 terminal preservation funding in order to bring the 16-year plan closer to the performance goal for these assets, by reducing lower priority Category 2 investments, reducing the uplands paving program by 50 percent, and by not preserving the passenger-only vessel facilities at Eagle Harbor.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

c. Terminal Preservation 16-Year Financial Plan

The recommended terminal preservation plan is reduced by \$187.6 million over the 16-year plan. The reduction is the result of the recommended cost estimating changes and the terminal preservation program recommendations. The table below shows the difference between the recommended terminal preservation 16-year plan and Scenario A.

Table 11.
Terminal Preservation Recommended vs. Scenario A

(\$ millions)

PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
902020C	Recommended Anacortes Preservation	0.0	2.7	7.5	9.7	9.7	51.8	0.0	0.0	81.3
	Scenario A	0.0	4.5	10.8	10.5	9.7	51.8	2.8	0.3	90.4
	Difference	0.0	-1.8	-3.3	-0.8	0.0	0.0	-2.8	-0.3	-9.0
930513G	Recommended Bainbridge Preservation	0.0	0.2	7.5	0.0	0.1	3.2	4.2	12.4	27.6
	Scenario A	0.0	0.2	7.5	0.0	0.1	3.2	4.7	12.8	28.5
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.5	-0.3	-0.9
930410T	Recommended Bremerton Preservation	0.0	3.0	0.0	1.0	12.0	1.1	3.8	4.9	25.9
	Scenario A	0.0	4.5	0.0	1.0	14.2	1.1	4.6	4.9	30.2
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	-1.4	0.0	0.0	-2.1	0.0	-0.8	0.0	-4.4
952516R	Recommended Clinton Preservation	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.2	2.5	1.3	4.3
	Scenario A	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.4	3.0	1.3	5.0
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-0.4	0.0	-0.6
900040N	Recommended Eagle Harbor Preservation	19.2	0.0	0.3	14.4	0.0	5.6	0.0	0.0	39.5
	Scenario A	19.2	0.2	0.6	28.9	0.7	11.1	0.0	0.6	61.3
	<u>Difference</u>	0.0	-0.2	-0.3	-14.4	-0.7	-5.6	0.0	-0.6	-21.8
910413Q	Recommended Edmonds Preservation	1.6	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.2
	Scenario A	1.6	0.6	0.2	0.9	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.1
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.9
900005M	Recommended Fauntleroy Preservation				0.4	4.0	40.1	2.2	2.7	49.3
	Scenario A				0.5	6.0	57.4	3.1	2.7	69.6
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-2.0	-17.3	-0.9	0.0	-20.3
900028U	Recommended Friday Harbor Preservation		1.8	3.0	11.0	0.0	0.0	1.9	2.3	19.9
	Scenario A	0.0	2.1	3.6	15.1	0.0	0.0	2.9	2.3	25.9
	<u>Difference</u>	0.0	-0.3	-0.5	-4.1	0.0	0.0	-1.0	0.0	-6.0
902017K	Recommended Keystone Preservation	2.7	0.0	4.0	2.8	3.7	0.2	1.0	0.0	14.4

⁴⁰ The recommended terminal preservation capital program also includes the deferral of one item (Kingston dolphin) that is not due for replacement until 2032 and the elimination of a double counting of a bridge seat at Fauntleroy for total corrections of \$1.4 million.

PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
	Scenario A	4.8	0.0	4.0	2.8	3.7	0.4	2.0	0.0	17.7
	<i>Difference</i>	-2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-1.0	0.0	-3.3
910414P	Recommended Kingston Preservation	0.4	1.1	1.6	7.4	0.3	2.3	9.9	6.2	29.2
	Scenario A	0.4	1.6	1.8	7.4	0.9	2.6	10.2	6.7	31.5
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	-0.4	-0.2	0.0	-0.6	-0.3	-0.3	-0.5	-2.4
9000221	Recommended Lopez Preservation	1.4	6.5	0.0	0.0	0.9	4.4	1.0	0.0	14.2
	Scenario A	1.9	8.0	0.0	0.0	0.9	4.4	2.1	0.0	17.2
	<u>Difference</u>	-0.5	-1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.0	0.0	-3.0
9525150	Recommended Mukilteo Preservation	8.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.9
	Scenario A	8.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.9
	<u>Difference</u>	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
900026P	Recommended Orcas Preservation	0.0	1.2	0.7	2.7	5.9	7.5	2.6	0.0	20.7
	Scenario A	0.0	1.4	1.1	3.8	5.9	7.5	4.3	0.0	24.1
	<u>Difference</u>	0.0	-0.2	-0.3	-1.2	0.0	0.0	-1.7	0.0	-3.4
900001G	Recommended Point Defiance Preservation	0.0	4.2	3.4	0.0	0.0	2.7	1.1	6.8	18.3
	Scenario A	0.0	4.5	4.9	0.0	0.0	2.7	1.3	7.2	20.6
	Difference	0.0	-0.3	-1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-0.4	-2.3
900012K	Recommended Port Townsend Preservation	6.4	8.2	0.0	5.0	8.9	0.0	0.3	0.0	28.8
	Scenario A	7.3	8.7	0.0	6.3	11.9	0.0	0.6	0.0	34.7
	Difference	-0.9	-0.5	0.0	-1.3	-2.9	0.0	-0.3	0.0	-5.9
900010L	Recommended Seattle Preservation	4.9	37.7	8.8	93.2	31.9	0.0	6.0	5.7	188.1
	Scenario A	6.9	50.5	13.6	144.2	49.2	0.0	10.5	7.2	282.1
	<i>Difference</i>	-2.0	-12.9	-4.8	-50.9	-17.3	0.0	-4.5	-1.5	-94.0
900024F	Recommended Shaw Preservation	3.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.9	0.0	0.6	0.0	7.7
	Scenario A	4.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.9	0.0	0.7	0.0	8.6
	<i>Difference</i>	-0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	0.0	-0.9
916008R	Recommended Southworth Preservation	0.0	0.0	0.6	5.8	13.7	8.0	0.2	0.0	21.2
	Scenario A	0.0	0.0	0.3	3.3	7.3	1.6	0.4	1.6	14.5
	Difference	0.0	0.0	0.3	2.6	6.4	-0.8	-0.2	-1.6	6.6
900002G	Recommended Tahlequah Preservation	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.5	4.5	0.6	6.8	12.9
	Scenario A	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.7	7.0	1.3	6.8	16.6
	Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.3	-0.3	-2.5	-0.6	0.0	-3.7
900006S	Recommended Vashon Preservation	2.0	2.2	18.0	18.9	0.0	4.8	11.3	0.0	57.2
Scenario A		2.8	2.9	23.3	23.6	0.0	4.8	11.3	0.0	68.7
Difference Difference		-0.8	-0.8	-5.3	-4.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-11.5
Total Terminal Preservation Recommended		50.7	69.3	55.9	173.2	95.9	129.2	49.3	49.2	672.7
Scenario A		57.7	89.6	71.8	248.8	115.9	156.1	65.8	54.5	860.3
Difference Difference		-6.9	-20.3	-15.9	-75.7	-20.0	-26.9	-16.5	-5.3	-187.6

2. Terminal Improvements

Scenario A includes \$390.9 million for terminal improvements in the 16-year plan. The terminal improvement program includes programmatic projects, dwell time improvements, transit improvements, and other terminal specific improvements.

The terminal improvement projects are changed substantially from those contemplated by Ferries in its 2006 Draft Strategic Plan when Ferries planned relocations and/or major expansions of the Bainbridge, Edmonds, Keystone, Mukilteo, Port Townsend, and Seattle terminals. Of these projects, only the relocation of the Mukilteo terminal is included in

Scenario A. This change in the terminal improvement program reflects the revised ridership projection, the proposed vehicle level of service standard, and operational and pricing strategies.

All of the proposed terminal improvement funding in Scenario A occurs in the first 12 years of the 16-year plan, with no terminal improvement funding proposed for the 2021-25 biennia. The result is that major terminal improvement projects are proposed to occur before customer reaction to proposed operational and pricing strategies is known.

a. Programmatic Improvements

Scenario A includes \$77.2 million for programmatic improvements, which are improvements that occur at a number of terminals. These projects have previously been budgeted as systemwide projects. In accordance with legislative direction, these projects are now budgeted as WINS or sub-projects within the appropriate terminal improvement projects. 41 Programmatic improvements include stormwater improvements (\$34.1) million); reservations (\$32.8 million); security improvements (\$4.1 million); seismic improvements (\$3.0 million); emergency generators (\$1.2 million); smart card implementation (\$1.2 million); phone improvements (\$0.4 million); and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) improvements (\$0.4 million).

Stormwater Improvements: Scenario A includes \$34.1 million as a placeholder for potential stormwater improvement projects in the 2015-21 biennia. Funding is provided for projects at all terminals. Specific stormwater improvements are included in terminal preservation and improvement projects as part of the terminal capital program.

Recommendation #33. The legislature should not fund the stormwater improvements program, but rather provide funding for stormwater projects as part of the funding of terminal preservation or improvement projects.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. The completed "improvements" study would develop scoping level designs and estimates for implementation of stormwater best management practices (BMPs) at each terminal so that WSF can achieve compliance with the Federal Clean Water Act and State Water Quality Laws (RCS 90.48, WAC 173-201A, and WAC 173-270).

Reservations Improvements: Scenario A proposes reservations as an operational strategy and includes \$32.8 million in the terminal improvement program for implementation. After the Revised Draft Long-Range Plan was issued, Ferries reviewed its proposed reservation system and refined its cost estimate to \$18.0 million, including: \$10.2 million for transponder systems at six (6) terminals; \$6.5 million for the central system and responder units at each terminal; web cameras at seven (7) terminals; and signage at all terminals except Anacortes.

⁴¹ The Systemwide Capital Projects Final Report, May 2008, provides more information on the systemwide

Table 12.
Recommended Reservations System Funding

(\$ millions)

Reservation System Component	16 YR	Terminals
Transponder System	10.2	Clinton, Edmonds, Fauntleroy, Kingston, Mukilteo, Southworth
Central System & Terminal Responder Units*	6.5	All
Web Cameras	1.1	Bainbridge, Clinton, Friday Harbor, Kingston, Lopez, Orcas, Seattle
Signage	0.2	All, except Anacortes
Total Reservations Cost	18.0	

^{*} Central system costs are distributed to Clinton, Edmonds, Keystone, Kingston, Mukilteo, Port Townsend PINS.

Recommendation #34. The legislature should include in its 16-year plan funding for Ferries' revised reservation program.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

• Security Improvements: Scenario A includes \$4.1 million for security improvements at terminals in the 2009-11 biennium. The consultants reviewed the scoping documents for these projects, conducting the same review as for the terminal preservation projects. Ferries subsequently identified additional reductions, bringing the revised budget for security improvements to \$2.4 million.

Recommendation #35. The legislature should decrease funding for terminal security improvements to Ferries' revised level.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

• Seismic Improvements: Scenario A includes \$3.0 million for seismic improvements at three (3) terminals in the 2009-11 biennium. Ferries is undertaking a seismic evaluation of all of its terminals, with the evaluations expected to be complete in the 2011-13 biennium. The consultants recommend adding \$6.0 million as a placeholder for additional seismic improvements in the 2011-13 and 2013-15 biennia that may result from these inspections.

Recommendation #36. The legislature should increase funding for terminal seismic improvements to provide a placeholder for additional improvements resulting from Ferries' ongoing seismic surveys.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

• *Emergency Generators:* Scenario A includes \$1.2 million to provide emergency generators at Port Townsend and Shaw in order to provide power for the electronic fare system during power outages.

Recommendation #37. The legislature should not fund emergency generators at small terminals where minimal revenue is at risk during power outages, instead continuing to rely on vessel shore power during landside power outages.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur. It should be noted that on multidestinational routes like the San Juan Islands, not supplying emergency generators to one island will impact all islands with delayed sailings.

b. Dwell Time Improvements

Dwell time improvements are improvements intended to improve loading and unloading of vessels so that, as ridership grows, existing schedules can be maintained, particularly during peak periods. Dwell time improvements in Scenario A total \$60.7 million over the 16-year plan. Projects include overhead loading at Clinton (\$24.3 million) and Fauntleroy (\$20.6 million); and tollbooth, holding, and exiting improvements at Port Townsend (\$8.2 million), Tahlequah (\$2.9 million), Point Defiance (\$2.6 million), Keystone (\$1.8 million), and Friday Harbor (\$0.3 million).

The overhead loading projects assume increased walk-on ridership in response to operational and pricing strategies. The tollbooth, holding, and exiting improvements will assist with projected vehicular traffic.

Recommendation #38. The legislature should not fund dwell time improvements until the impact of operational and pricing strategies on ridership is known.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

c. Transit Improvements

Transit improvements in Scenario A total \$58.1 million over the 16-year plan including improvements at Bainbridge (\$45.1 million), Clinton (\$11.5 million), and Kingston (\$1.5 million). The consultants endorse the concept of enhancing transit service but do not recommend funding these projects until an assessment of the availability of local transit service opportunities can be done and the impact of operational and pricing strategies on walk-on ridership is known.

Recommendation #39. The legislature should not fund transit capital improvements at terminals until the impact of operational and pricing strategies on walk-on ridership is known and until the availability of transit service is assessed.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: We agree that with limited funds, these projects are lower in priority than new vessels. However, encouraging walk-ons is a key operational strategy, and transit connections are an important factor in encouraging walk-ons. If the funding picture improves, we will recommend adding the transit enhancement projects back in to the capital budget.

d. Mukilteo Terminal Relocation

The relocation of the Mukilteo terminal is the largest terminal improvement project in Scenario A at \$138.1 million. The advantages to relocating the terminal from its current location include: moving the terminal away from a very congested intersection that has impeded the loading and unloading of ferries and 1,500 feet closer to the Sounder stop; addition of a high-occupancy vehicle (HOV) entrance lane; and ease of adding overhead loading to the terminal at some time in the future.

As proposed in Scenario A, the Mukilteo terminal would include bow loading, which allows expedited loading and unloading but requires a larger terminal building. A January 2008 Ferries' analysis of alternatives for the Mukilteo terminal⁴² notes that bow loading is a requirement for three (3) vessel service on the route. Two (2) vessel service is proposed for the Mukilteo route in Scenario A.

Ferries' estimate for relocating the terminal without bow loading was reviewed by the consultants, using the same approach as for the terminal preservation projects. The resulting estimate is a budget of \$91.8 million over the 16-year plan.

Recommendation #40. The legislature should provide funding for the relocation of the Mukilteo terminal without bow loading.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

e. Other Terminal Improvements

Other terminal improvements included in Scenario A are: Anacortes terminal building replacement (\$27.1 million), sign bridge to delineate lanes (\$1.8 million), and concession storage building improvements (\$0.3 million); the addition of a third slip at Southworth to support the addition of a fourth vessel on the Vashon-Fauntleroy-Southworth route (\$12.4 million) and replacement of luminaries (\$0.4 million); Seattle electrical upgrade (\$7.6 million); Vashon dolphins (\$5.4 million)⁴³ and funding for an agreement with King County to support passenger-only service (\$0.3 million); Lopez exit walkway (\$1.0 million); Keystone improved shore power and security (\$0.4 million); and Eagle Harbor superfund site monitoring (\$0.1 million).

The consultants recommend not funding the third slip at Southworth in conformance with the recommended vessel construction and deployment plan. The consultants' review found that the Anacortes sign bridge and concession storage building improvement and the Lopez exit walkway were not essential projects. The consultants recommend that, consistent with the definitions of capital in ESHB 2358, the Eagle Harbor superfund site monitoring be moved to the operations budget.

Recommendation #41. The legislature should not fund non-essential terminal improvement projects at Anacortes and Lopez, and should move superfund site monitoring at Eagle Harbor to the operations budget.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: No response

f. Terminal Improvement 16-Year Financial Plan

The recommended terminal improvement plan is reduced by \$225.9 million over the 16-year plan. The table below shows the difference between the recommended terminal preservation 16-year plan and Scenario A.

⁴² Mukilteo Multimodal Ferry Terminal Cost Reduction Alternative Option Development (Draft), January 17, 2008.

⁴³ A pre-design report was submitted by Ferries to the legislature for the Vashon dolphins upgrade project. The proposed funding in Scenario A is consistent with the pre-design study.

Table 13.
Terminal Improvement Recommended vs. Scenario A

(\$ millions)

		(ψ 1111	illons)							
PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
902020D	Recommended Anacortes Improvement	28.0	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	28.7
	Scenario A	27.7	0.0	0.0	0.7	10.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	38.7
	Difference	0.3	0.3	0.3	-0.7	-10.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	-10.0
930513H	Recommended Bainbridge Improvement	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.1
70001011	Scenario A	0.6	0.0	0.0	9.5	37.1	2.4	0.0	0.0	49.5
	Difference Difference	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-9.4	-37.0	-2.4	0.0	0.0	-48.5
930410U	Recommended Bremerton Improvement	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4
7304100	Scenario A	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.0	3.3	1.4	0.0	0.0	5.9
0505170	Difference	-0.1	0.4	0.4	-0.6	-3.3	-1.4	0.0	0.0	-4.5
952516S	Recommended Clinton Improvement	1.9	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.5
	Scenario A	0.2	5.7	29.6	0.9	2.1	2.7	0.0	0.0	41.2
	<i>Difference</i>	1.7	-4.2	-29.6	-0.9	-2.1	-2.7	0.0	0.0	-37.7
9000400	Recommended Eagle Harbor Improvement									
	Scenario A	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.8
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-3.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	-3.8
910413R	Recommended Edmonds Improvement	1.5	1.6	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.4
	Scenario A	0.5	2.5	1.6	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	5.6
	<i>Difference</i>	1.0	-0.9	-1.3	0.0	-1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.2
900005N	Recommended Fauntleroy Improvement	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.4	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.1
	Scenario A	0.2	0.0	0.0	4.1	19.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	23.8
	Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	-3.7	-18.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-21.7
900028V	Recommended Friday Harbor Improvement	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7
7000201	Scenario A	0.6	0.1	0.2	1.2	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.3
	Difference	-0.1	-0.1	-0.2	-1.1	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.7
902017M	Recommended Keystone Improvement	1.5	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.1
702017101	Scenario A	2.3	1.7	0.0	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.9
	Difference Difference	-0.8	-1.6	0.0	-0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.8
910414S		1.2	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.7
9104143	Recommended Kingston Improvement									
	Scenario A	1.0	3.2	1.6	0.0	1.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	7.7
0000001	Difference	0.3	-1.7	-1.6	0.0	-1.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	-4.9
900022J	Recommended Lopez Improvement	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7
	Scenario A	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.9	0.5	0.5	0.0	0.0	2.2
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.2	0.2	-0.8	-0.4	-0.5	0.0	0.0	-1.4
952515P	Recommended Mukilteo Improvement	4.3	7.4	17.2	48.7	18.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	95.9
	Scenario A	5.0	8.4	24.0	71.4	32.1	0.6	0.0	0.0	141.4
	Difference	-0.8	-0.9	-6.8	-22.7	-13.7	-0.6	0.0	0.0	-45.5
900026Q	Recommended Orcas Improvement	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7
	Scenario A	0.2	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.6
	Difference	0.0	0.2	0.2	-0.9	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.9
900001H	Recommended Point Defiance Improvement	0.8	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.5
	Scenario A	0.9	0.0	0.0	3.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.4
	Difference Difference	-0.1	0.2	0.2	-3.0	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.9
900012L	Recommended Port Townsend Improvement	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.9
700012L	Scenario A	3.6	6.6	0.0	0.6	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	11.7
	Difference	-2.7	-6.6	0.0	- <i>0.5</i>	-0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	-10.7
00001014										
900010M	Recommended Seattle Improvement	1.7	7.0	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	9.2

PIN	PIN Name	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR
Scenario A		1.8	6.7	0.0	1.9	6.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	17.0
	Difference	-0.1	0.3	0.3	-1.7	-6.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	-7.8
900024G	Recommended Shaw Improvement	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1
	Scenario A	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.9
	<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.8
916008S	Recommended Southworth Improvement	0.1	0.0	0.0	8.0	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.4
	Scenario A	0.2	0.0	0.0	2.8	12.1	1.5	0.0	0.0	16.5
	<i>Difference</i>	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-2.0	-10.6	-1.5	0.0	0.0	-14.1
900002H	Recommended Tahlequah Improvement	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.9
	Scenario A	0.4	0.0	0.0	1.3	2.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.2
	Difference	0.0	0.2	0.2	-1.2	-2.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	-3.3
900006T	Recommended Vashon Improvement	6.2	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	7.1
	Scenario A	6.3	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	7.6
	<i>Difference</i>	-0.1	0.4	0.4	-1.0	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	<i>-0.5</i>
Total Tern	Total Terminal Improvement Recommended		21.4_	20.0	51.0	22.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	165.0
	Scenario A			56.9	102.7	135.2	9.0	0.0	0.0	390.8
	Difference	-1.7	-13.5	-37.0	-51.6	-113.1	-9.0	0.0	0.0	-225.9

g. Alternatives

Alternatives for the Anacortes terminal building replacement and the relocation of the Mukilteo terminal are outlined below.

i. Mukilteo Terminal Preservation Alternative

The legislature could preserve the Mukilteo terminal at its current location and maintain service on the route. The cost of preserving the terminal is \$63.5 million, a reduction of \$28.3 million from re-locating the terminal. This option would also reduce the terminal preservation budget by \$2.6 million because it would include the mechanical and electrical upgrades already in the terminal preservation capital plan.

ii. Anacortes Terminal Preservation Alternative

The legislature could re-roof the existing Anacortes terminal building rather than replace it. The terminal is due for replacement but its life can be extended with a new roof estimated to cost \$0.5 million. The net reduction in terminal improvement costs is \$26.6 million.

3. Terminal Joint Development Opportunities

WSDOT's Innovative Partnerships Program commissioned Strategic Economics, Van Meter Williams Pollack, and KPFF to study the potential for joint development at ferry terminals. The *Analysis of Joint Development Opportunities at Washington State Ferry Terminals: Final Report,* January 12, 2009, examines the benefits of joint development, identifies terminals with potential for joint development, analyzes opportunities and challenges, and makes several policy-level recommendations.

a. Potential Benefits of Joint Development

Joint development is a real estate development project of publicly-owned land through multiple parties, such as a public-private partnership or collaboration with other public entities. The report identified the following main benefits to Ferries from development at or near terminals: (1) the revenue from the development; (2) improvements to ferry facilities that a private developer would make as part of the project; (3) increased ferry ridership and farebox revenues through new residential or office development within walking distance of a ferry terminal; (4) leveraging the contribution of other public partners, such as local jurisdictions or transit agencies; and (5) local and regional benefits, such as reduced traffic congestion and improved quality of life.

b. Terminals with Potential for Joint Development

Joint development in connection with ferry terminals presents more challenges than does a typical transit-oriented development project. This is because ferry terminals are designed as an extension of the highway system, located where a state highway meets the water's edge, and are not usually themselves a destination.

The study included a comprehensive analysis of the development opportunities and constraints at Ferries' 19 terminals. The study concluded that seven terminals offer potential for development: Anacortes, Bainbridge, Edmonds, Friday Harbor, Mukilteo, Orcas Island, and Seattle/Colman Dock. Of these, three offer the best opportunities for joint development in the near term: Bainbridge, Edmonds, and Seattle/Colman Dock.

- Bainbridge Development Opportunities. The strongest development opportunity at the Bainbridge terminal appears to be a new hotel and restaurant on the Ferries-owned parking lot at the eastern edge of the terminal area. The study also evaluated incorporating a waterfront plaza, renovated terminal building and replacement parking. The study concluded that hotel development could be financially feasible for a developer and would provide a return for Ferries. The revenue could help to cover the costs of renovating the terminal and/or adding a significant amount of parking, or it could provide an ongoing revenue stream through a long-term ground lease. Ferries would need to provide a subsidy to the project if it included terminal renovation or other improvements, but the amount would be significantly less than for Ferries to provide the same improvements. A hotel project also would benefit Ferries by encouraging off-peak and walk-on ridership.
- Edmonds Development Opportunities. The study concluded that a mixed-use development on the Ferries/Skipper's site is likely to be financially feasible once the housing market stabilizes. Ferries could use the project revenue to improve operations or facilities at the terminal. Ferries could also use the revenue to leverage more significant infrastructure improvements, such as consolidated parking or improved multimodal connections.
- Seattle/Colman Dock Development Opportunities. The Seattle terminal's location in Seattle's central business district presents a strong market for private development and an important opportunity to expand walk-on ferry ridership. The City of Seattle is finalizing a waterfront plan and has expressed interest in working with Ferries to plan the future of Colman Dock. The study analyzed the potential for new mixed-use buildings (ground-floor retail and two to three floors of office space) along Alaskan Way and on the northern ferry trestle. A mixed use building along Alaskan Way could be developed without a physical impact on ferry operations and facilities. A mixed use building on the northern trestle would

need to be developed in conjunction with a new ferry terminal and more efficient holding area. The authors concluded that such developments are feasible and could generate some revenue for Ferries, but probably not enough to pay for all the needed improvements at Colman Dock. Ferries should wait until the schedule for the Viaduct is clear before evaluating the best timing for development at Colman Dock. In the meantime, there may be an opportunity to collaborate with the City of Seattle to approach planning and development of the waterfront near Colman Dock from a district perspective. This might be a way to leverage revenues from future development in the area to support such neighborhood amenities as a park or improved transit and pedestrian connections.

c. Joint Development Policy Recommendations

The study also made three general recommendations related to joint development. These were to: (1) establish system-wide joint development policies; (2) engage with local jurisdictions as they plan for the areas near ferry terminals, and look for opportunities to develop partnerships; and (3) dedicate a staff position to actively facilitate joint development at ferry terminals.

4. Terminal Policy Recommendations

a. Joint Development

The consultants support the findings and recommendations of the *Joint Development Opportunities* study. Potential revenue from joint development has not been included in Scenario A. The consultants concur that it is premature to anticipate funding from these potential developments.

Recommendation #42. The legislature should endorse the findings of the Analysis of Joint Development Opportunities at Washington State Ferry Terminals: Final Report and provide funding for WSDOT to pursue the identified development opportunities.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

b. Management of Major Terminal Projects

The Capital Program Staffing and Administration Cost Final Report noted: "The Ferries Long-Range Plan will include a projection of the size, scope, cost and sequencing of major new and improved terminals. This information should be used by Terminal Engineering to determine the staff needed for improvement projects. The consultants recommend that Terminal Engineering consider approaching these projects as an owner-developer, managing the work of outside design and construction firms. Staffing per project under this approach should be based on a percentage of project costs and should not exceed 3.5 percent of project costs (based on private sector experience). Design should be accomplished by outside firms. Construction inspection and testing should be conducted by outside experts, with an anticipated cost in the range of 0.5 percent to 1 percent of construction costs" (p. 27).

For major terminal projects, (i.e., those exceeding \$50.0 million such as the preservation of the Seattle terminal and relocation of the Mukilteo terminal) using third party management could be particularly beneficial. Terminal Engineering has limited experience undertaking projects of this magnitude that might be better accomplished by entities with major project experience.

Recommendation #43. The legislature and Ferries should consider third party management of major terminal projects, defined as those that exceed \$50.0 million.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

C. Emergency Repairs

In Ferries' Scenario A 16-year capital program, the emergency repair costs are \$77.3 million.

Through December 2008, Ferries had expended \$10.0 million in the 2007-09 biennium on emergency repairs, of which \$6.3 million was on the Steel Electric class vessels now retired from the fleet. The projected emergency repair expense for vessels remaining in the fleet and for terminals through the end of the 2007-09 biennium is \$6.3 million. Of this expenditure, \$2.0 million is anticipated to be spent on the *Rhododendron* and the *Evergreen State*. Under Scenario A and the recommended fleet, these two vessels will retire from the fleet at the conclusion of the 2009-11 biennium, which should reduce emergency repair expenses.

Recommendation #44. The legislature should plan on emergency repair funding in the 2009-11 biennium that would equal the projected 2007-09 level for non-retired vessels and terminals, and adjust funding levels in anticipation of the retirement of the Rhododendron and the Evergreen State at the end of the 2009-11 biennium.

Table 14.
Emergency Repair Recommended vs. Scenario A
(\$ millions)

15-17 23-25 09-11 11-13 13-15 17-19 19-21 21-23 16 YR Recommended 6.3 4.6 4.9 5.2 6.9 46.0 5.6 6.0 6.4 Scenario A 7.0 7.5 8.2 9.0 9.9 10.8 11.9 13.0 77.3 -0.7 -2.9 -3.3 -3.8 -4.3 -5.4 Difference -4.8 -6.1 -31.3

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Do not concur. Concur with reducing emergency repair funding associated with the retirement of M.V. Rhododendron. Do not concur for M.V. Evergreen State – see comment regarding Recommendation #21.

D. Administration and Indirect Costs

In Ferries' Scenario A 16-year capital program, funding for administration and indirect costs is \$225.4 million, of which \$99.7 million is for central administration that supports

both vessels and terminals, \$86.4 million is for terminal indirect costs, and \$39.3 million is for vessel indirect costs.

In Scenario A, the central administration costs are 3 percent of total capital expenses (excluding debt service); terminal indirect costs are 7 percent of the terminal capital program costs; and vessel indirect costs are 2 percent of the vessel capital program costs.

ESHB 2358 required Ferries to allocate systemwide projects, which formerly included these administration and indirect costs, to terminal and vessel preservation and improvement projects. Ferries' cost allocation methodology for distribution of administration and indirect costs to projects was reviewed and endorsed in the JTC's *Systemwide Capital Projects Final Report*, May 2008.

1. Administrative and Indirect Cost Carry-Forward

Ferries' Scenario A developed detailed costs for administration and indirect support for the 2009-11 biennium. These costs were then carried forward and inflated over the next seven biennia to develop a 16-year plan with some adjustments for one time only costs. The consultants' review found additional 2009-11 biennium one time costs that should not have been carried forward to subsequent biennia.

Recommendation #45. The legislature should adjust carry-forward amounts for onetime expenses in the administration and indirect support costs when developing its 16year financial plan.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

2. Terminal and Vessel Costs

All administration and indirect support costs should be for expenses that are not solely attributable to a specific terminal or vessel. In some cases, Ferries had included costs that should be terminal or vessel specific in administration and indirect costs. As an example, noise abatement on specific vessels was included in vessel indirect costs. The consultants recommend that these costs not be budgeted as part of administration and indirect costs.

Recommendation #46. The legislature should not fund specific terminal or vessel costs as part of administration and indirect costs, but rather accommodate those costs within terminal and vessel projects.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

3. Administration

Administration costs for legal, budget, human resources, accounting, planning, and communications total \$99.7 million in the 16-year financial plan. The JTC's *Capital Program Staffing and Administration Cost Report*, April 2008, reviewed administration costs and made no recommendations for reductions, finding the costs to be reasonable.

Two costs in Scenario A, for a contract specialist (\$1.2 million over the 16-year plan) and for communications consultants (\$1.1 million over 16-year plan), should be budgeted in specific terminal or vessel projects. A grant funded position for a Security Manager is a one-time cost that should not have been carried forward into subsequent biennia.

Recommendation #47. The legislature should plan on capital administration costs of \$96.4 million in developing its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$3.3 million from Scenario A.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur.

4. Terminal Indirect Costs

Terminal indirect costs for project controls, technical support, planning and design standards, engineering studies, regulatory compliance, and administration and office support total \$86.4 million in the 16-year financial plan, which is 7 percent of terminal capital costs. The JTC's *Capital Program Staffing and Administration Cost Report*, April 2008, reviewed terminal indirect costs and recommended cost reviews and reductions.

a. Project Controls

• Share with vessels: Terminals has a seven (7) staff project controls group that supports terminal project planning, budgeting and reporting. Vessels has no similar staff. The consultants recommend that the project controls group be shared with vessels.

Recommendation #48. The legislature should allocate project control section staff costs between vessel and terminal indirect costs when developing its 16-year financial plan.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur that vessels need additional budget and project control resources. We need to analyze how this can best be done. In the 09-11 budget, with two consultant positions converted to FTEs in vessel engineering for this purpose, we believe two additional positions are needed for vessels, not four.

• **Project Management and Reporting System:** The 2008 supplemental transportation budget (ESHB 2878, Section 309 (10)) required WSDOT to review the costs and benefits of continued use of the Primavera scheduling system in Ferries and to include that review with its 2009-11 budget submittal. Scenario A assumes continued use of the Primavera system and full implementation of WSDOT's Project Management and Reporting System (PMRS) at a cost of \$7.2 million over the 16-year financial plan. The consultants recommend that the legislature fund continued licensing of a scheduling system for \$0.5 million over the 16-year financial plan, but not fund implementation of PMRS. PMRS, which has been designed to support the highway divisions of WSDOT, is not suited to the small projects normally done by Ferries. WSDOT's rail division is not implementing PMRS, and the consultants recommend that Ferries be treated the same way.

Recommendation #49. The legislature should not fund implementation of the WSDOT Project Management Reporting System in Ferries.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur for vessels, not terminals.

• *Impact on Financial Plan:* The consultants identified savings of \$18.6 million in the 16-year financial plan for terminal project controls resulting from the sharing of staff costs for terminal controls with Vessel Engineering, reduction of funding for PMRS, and reductions in consulting support.

b. Technical Support

The consultants identified savings of \$0.4 million in the 16-year financial plan in terminal technical support from carry-forward adjustments for one-time equipment and basemapping expenses, not funding an inventory of terminal signs, and moving aerial photo expenses to projects. 44

c. Planning and Design

The consultants identified savings of \$5.8 million in the 16-year financial plan in planning and design from adjusting carry-forward expenditures for the one-time expense of developing engineering manuals.

d. Engineering Studies

The consultants identified savings of \$1.4 million in the 16-year financial plan from adjusting the carry-forward expenditures for one-time expenses for seismic surveys and a stub pile replacement study. The consultants included an allowance of \$0.2 million per biennium for terminal engineering studies.

e. Regulatory Compliance

The consultants identified savings of \$0.3 million in the 16-year financial plan in regulatory compliance from adjusting mechanical and electrical consulting support for inspections to the actual expenditure projected for the 2007-09 biennium.

f. Office Support

The consultants identified savings of \$4.3 million in office support in the 16-year financial plan by making adjustments for personal service contracts, staffing budgets, and reductions in capital outlay, goods and services, and travel.

Recommendation #50. The legislature should plan on terminal indirect costs of \$55.7 million in developing its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$30.7 million from Scenario A.

WSDOT Ferries	Division	Response:	Do	not	concur
---------------	----------	-----------	----	-----	--------

⁴⁴ Aerial photos are taken to document changes to terminals at the conclusion of major projects.

5. Vessel Indirect Costs

Vessel indirect costs for life cycle cost model support, environmental studies, planning and design, technical support, noise control, and administration and office support total \$39.3 million in the 16-year financial plan, which is 2 percent of vessel capital costs. The *Capital Program Staffing and Administration Cost Report*, April 2008, reviewed vessel indirect costs and recommending focusing greater management support on vessel preservation.

a. Project Controls

The consultants recommend adding \$7.1 million over the 16-year plan to vessel indirect costs to allow vessels to share terminal's project controls staff. Vessels currently has no such staff and needs the support for scheduling and budgeting projects.

b. Vessel Life Cycle Cost Model (LCCM)

The consultants identified savings of \$3.5 million over the 16-year plan from eliminating inspections and adjusting the carry-forward for a one-time consultant expense to review the LCCM. The consultants recommend that the inspections take place with other preservation projects or be accomplished by vessel engineering crews during the course of normal operations.

c. Vessel Environmental Studies

The consultants identified savings of \$2.1 million over the 16-year plan from eliminating a duplicate request for a fuel savings and emissions coordinator; reducing funding for positive restraint system analysis and adjusting the carry-forward for this one time expense; and eliminating preliminary engineering for engine modifications required by the Clean Air Act. Positive restraint system analysis is being conducted to find a way to reduce engine use while a vessel is at berth. The analysis should be limited to operational or non-capital intensive alternatives. Modifications required for compliance with the Clean Air Act⁴⁵ will be supported by the engine manufacturers and in some cases the manufacturer will make the changes themselves.

d. Vessel Planning and Design

The consultants identified savings of \$2.0 million over the 16-year plan. The consultants eliminated funding for DAPPER⁴⁶ models, an engineering manual update, analysis of skin fuel tank modifications⁴⁷, technical storage library funding, and by reducing autocad licenses. Additionally the consultants recommended transferring an allowance for stability analysis to the operations budget since it is in support of emergency response by the marine operations group.

-

⁴⁵ Compliance with new emission regulations in the Clean Air Act is required by 2014.

⁴⁶ Dapper is a software tool typically used in new vessel construction. Ferries has already accomplished dapper models for the Island Home and 144-auto ferry design projects.

⁴⁷ Skin fuel tank modifications would help prevent oil loss in the event of a grounding. However, modifications have not proven successful in other applications, are not required by the Coast Guard, and are not a good investment on older vessels. Both the 144-auto ferry and Island Home ferry designs have independent fuel tanks.

e. Vessel Noise Control Abatement

The consultants identified \$2.6 million in savings over the 16-year plan. The savings were achieved by eliminating individual vessel improvement projects, which should be budgeted in the vessel improvement budget, and by adjusting the carry-forward for noise surveys to be completed at the end of the 2009-11 biennium.

f. Vessel Technical Support Activities

The consultants identified savings of \$1.2 million over the 16-year plan. The consultants adjusted carry-forward expenses for a consultant to establish a revised bilge and void maintenance program; spread funding for radar laboratory equipment throughout the 16-year plan; eliminated a vessel sign study; and corrected the allowance for training. The consultants added funding of \$0.2 million per biennium beginning in the 2011-13 biennium as an allowance for future vessel studies.

g. Vessel Design, Preservation, and New Construction Supervision and Office Support

The consultants identified savings of \$5.4 million over the 16-year plan. The consultants recommend eliminating two on-site consultants and replacing them with budget staff, and removing a project engineer and inventory agent who are charging to projects from vessel indirect costs.

Recommendation #51. The legislature should plan on vessel indirect costs of \$29.7 million over its 16-year financial plan, a reduction of \$9.6 million from Scenario A.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur with many of the recommendations. However, there are some issues where continuing additional resources will be needed (e.g. LCCM asset inspection/documentation, noise consultant), plus there are a number of other adjustments which result in a net savings of \$7.1 million instead of the \$9.6 million identified by the consultant for the plan.

6. Administration and Indirect Cost 16-Year Financial Plan

The recommended administration and indirect cost capital plan is reduced by \$43.6 million or 19 percent over the 16-year period. With the reductions in the recommended capital plan, administration grows to 5.6 percent of total capital costs and vessel indirect to 2.5 percent of vessel capital. Terminal indirect costs decline to 6.6 percent of terminal capital costs.

Table 15.
Administration and Indirect Capital Recommended vs. Scenario A
(\$ millions)

% of 09-11 11-13 13-15 15-17 17-19 19-21 21-23 23-25 16 YR Capital 10.9 11.3 11.8 12.2 12.7 13.2 **Recommended Administrative** 10.6 13.7 96.4 5.6% 10.9 12.2 99.7 Scenario A 11.3 11.7 12.7 13.1 13.6 14.2 2.6% **Difference** -0.3 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.5 -0.4 -0.4 -0.5 -3.3 3.1% 3.9 29.7 2.5% Recommended Vessel Indirect 4.0 3.5 3.6 3.5 3.6 3.7 4.0 Scenario A 4.7 4.4 4.7 4.9 5.1 5.3 39.3 1.7% 4.6 5.5 **Difference** -0.7 -0.9 -1.0 -1.2 -1.3 -1.4 -1.4 -1.5 -9.6 0.8% Recommended Terminal Indirect 8.2 7.3 7.5 55.7 6.6% 6.3 6.2 6.5 6.7 7.0 9.9 6.9% Scenario A 11.2 9.8 10.3 10.7 11.1 11.5 11.9 86.4 **Difference** -3.0 -3.5 -3.7 -3.8 -4.0 -4.1 -4.2 -4.4 -30.7 -0.3% **Recommended Total Admin & Indirect** 22.8 20.7 21.1 21.8 22.5 23.4 24.4 25.2 181.9 225.4 Scenario A 26.8 25.5 26.2 27.2 28.3 29.3 30.4 31.6 Difference -4.0 -5.4 -5.9 -43.6 -4.8 -5.1 -5.8 -6.0 -6.4

SECTION V. OPERATIONS

This section reviews the operations program proposed in Scenario A and makes cost reduction and policy recommendations. The consultants' cost reduction recommendations and alternatives are summarized in the table below.

Table 16.
Operations Program Summary

(\$ millions)

	Scenario A	Recommended	Change	Alternative (Cost Reductions)
Fuel (Nov. forecast)	747.5	720.9	-26.6	
Fixed Vessel Costs	1,072.7	1,034.6	-38.1	-39.1
Variable Vessel Costs	1,125.2	1,119.2	-6.0	
Sub-total Vessels	2,945.4	2,874.7	-70.7	-39.1
Terminal Costs	717.0	717.0	0.0	
Management & Support Costs	640.8	<i>556.7</i>	-84.1	-80.8
Office of Financial Management Charges	0.8	0.8	0.0	
Marine Employees Commission Charges	4.1	4.1	0.0	
Sub-Total Outside Agency Charges	4.9	4.9	0.0	
Total Expenditures	4,308.1	4,153.3	-154.8	-119.9
Operations Revenues	4,047.1	4,047.1		
Funding Gap	-261.0	-106.2	154.8	13.7

The consultants' policy recommendation is to endorse Ferries' proposed fuel surcharge provided that Ferries gives the legislature a plan on how the surcharge will be determined and applied, and considers operational changes to reduce fuel use before applying the surcharge.

A. Vessel Operations Expenses

In Ferries' Scenario A 16-year operations program, vessel operations expenses are \$2,945.4 million or 68 percent of total operations expenses.

Vessel operations expenses include fuel, fixed costs - engine room staff and vessel repair and maintenance - and variable costs - deck labor and supplies. Fixed costs do not change with vessel deployment, while fuel and variable costs do.

The consultants used the financial model developed by Berk & Associates for Ferries' long-range planning in assessing operations costs to ensure compatible analysis.

1. Fuel Costs

Fuel costs are \$747.5 million⁴⁸ in Ferries' Scenario A 16-year operations program.

a. Fleet Composition and Deployment

The recommended fleet composition and deployment discussed in Section IV has lower fuel costs because it includes smaller, more fuel efficient vessels and deploys smaller vessels on some routes. The result is a savings of \$13.8 million over the 16-year plan.

b. Fuel Conservation

The *Vessel Sizing and Timing Final Report* recommended that Ferries slow vessels by 0.5 to 1.0 knot to reduce fuel consumption. Scenario A assumes an average 0.75 knot reduction in vessel speed all year except in the summer season. The consultants recommend that Ferries also slow vessels in the summer, focusing particularly on non-peak summer sailings. The consultants assumed that in the summer season vessels could be slowed an average of 0.5 knot which saves \$12.8 million in the 16-year financial plan.

Recommendation #52. The legislature in developing its 16-year financial plan should assume fuel conservation savings from slowing vessels on average 0.5 knot in the summer and 0.75 knot the rest of the year.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response. Concur

c. Risk of Fuel Costs

Ferries' financial stability has been impacted by volatility in fuel prices. The *Revised Draft Long Range Plan* proposes a fuel surcharge to deal with this volatility. As proposed, the fuel surcharge would be in effect when fuel prices rise or lower beyond a pre-determined base fuel price. "Under this program, a customer's total fare would be subject to automatic increases in periods of rapid fuel price escalation... The surcharge would be reduced when fuel prices fell" (p. 74). Surcharge revenue of \$42.8 million is included in Scenario A during the 2009-11 to 2017-19 biennia, representing 2.3 percent of the five biennia fare revenue.

The consultants recommend that the legislature endorse the concept of a fuel surcharge. Ferries should provide the legislature with a plan describing how the fuel surcharge would be determined and applied. Ferries should also review potential operational strategies to reduce fuel consumption before automatically implementing an increase in fares. For example, it may be possible to further slow vessels during periods of high fuel prices so that the full impact of increased fuel prices are not passed on to Ferries' customers.

Recommendation #53. The legislature should endorse the concept of a fuel surcharge to stabilize Ferries' operations finances provided that Ferries provides the legislature with a plan for determining and applying the surcharge, and that Ferries reviews operational strategies to reduce fuel consumption before applying the surcharge.

82

⁴⁸ Fuel costs are based on the November 2008 fuel price forecast from the Washington State Transportation Revenue Forecast Council.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

2. Variable Vessel Costs

Variable vessel costs of \$1,125.2 million are included in the Scenario A 16-year financial plan. These costs, for deck labor and deck supplies, change with deployment. The recommended fleet composition and deployment results in a reduction in vessel variable costs of \$6.0 million over the 16-year financial plan as a result of deploying smaller vessels that have smaller deck crews.

3. Fixed Vessel Costs

Fixed vessels costs of \$1,072.7 million are included in the Scenario A 16-year financial plan.

a. Fleet composition and deployment

Fixed vessel operations costs, for engine room crews and vessel repair and maintenance, do not change with deployment. The recommended fleet composition results in a reduction in vessel fixed costs of \$38.1 million over the 16-year plan as a result of deploying smaller vessels that have smaller engine room crews and less maintenance and repair expense.

b. Alternative

The alternative discussed in Section IV of not acquiring one small vessel (Island Home) would reduce fixed vessel costs by \$39.1 million over the 16-year plan.

4. Vessel Operations 16-Year Plan

The recommended vessel operations cost is reduced by \$70.7 million over the 16-year plan. Cost reductions are the result of the fleet composition and deployment recommendations and slowing vessels in the summer.

Table 17.
Fuel Operations Costs Recommended vs. Scenario A
(\$ millions)

11-13 09-11 13-15 15-17 17-19 19-21 21-23 23-25 16 YR 93.7 Recommended Fuel (Nov. 08 forecast) 75.9 98.8 92.7 92.2 8.88 88.7 90.2 720.9 100.9 96.3 97.5 93.5 91.9 Scenario A 77.7 96.1 93.6 747.5 Difference -1.8 -2.4 -2.1 -3.6 -5.3 -4.7 -3.2 -3.4 -26.6 107.7 116.3 133.6 143.2 153.5 175.7 Recommended Variable Costs 124.6 164.6 1,119.2 Scenario A 108.2 117.1 124.9 134.4 144.5 154.7 165.1 176.3 1,125.2 Difference -0.5 -0.8 -0.3 -0.8 -1.3 -1.2 -0.5 -0.6 -6.0 137.6 Recommended Fixed Costs 125.7 108.6 122.0 121.3 131.0 142.5 145.9 1,034.6 109.9 122.9 124.7 131.8 138.5 145.2 148.5 151.2 Scenario A 1,072.7 **Difference** -1.3 -0.9 -3.4 -6.1 -7.5 -7.6 -6.0 -5.3 -38.1 **Recommended Total Vessel Operations** 379.8 292.2 331.9 344.7 352.0 366.4 395.7 411.8 2,874.7 Scenario A 295.8 336.1 362.5 380.5 393.4 405.5 421.1 350.5 2,945.4 Difference -3.6 -4.2 -5.8 -10.5 -14.1 -13.6 -9.8 -70.7

B. Management and Support Costs

In Ferries' Scenario A 16-year financial plan, operations management and support costs total \$640.8 million or 15 percent of total operations costs. These costs were reviewed in the JTC's *Management and Support Costs Final Report*, July 2008. The report also found that management and support costs in fiscal year 2006 were 17 percent of total operations costs. The report found that management and support staff costs were reasonable, and made recommendations for modifications and reductions in non-staff management and support expenses.

1. Basis for Scenario A Management and Support Costs

Scenario A management and support costs were based on the 2007 route statement, with costs inflated from that base. As a result the Scenario A management and support costs do not reflect policy changes regarding charging other WSDOT program expenses to Ferries, nor total staffing costs. Basing credit card fee charges and fleet insurance costs on the 2007 route statement meant that these costs were not properly adjusted for revenue and fleet changes.

2. WSDOT Program Charges

The Management and Support Costs Final Report recommended that the Office of Financial Management (OFM), WSDOT, and the legislature review charges by WSDOT Executive Management (Program S) and Information Technology Services (Program C) to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account. The Governor's proposed 2009-11 biennium budget ceased charging the Puget Sound Ferries Operations Account for Program C and S expenses. The 2007 route statement includes both Program C and S charges and WSDOT Risk Management (Program U) expenses. Program U expenses are not charged to the Puget Sound Ferries Operations Account. The policy change on Program C and S charges and correcting the Program U charges reduces Ferries' operations expenses by \$107.8 million over the 16-year plan period.

Recommendation #54. The legislature should adopt the policy proposed in the Governor's 2009-11 biennium budget of not charging the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account for expenses incurred by WSDOT Executive Management (Program S) and Information Technology Services (Program C).

WSDOT Ferries Division Response. Concur

3. Staffing Costs

Management and support staffing costs included in Scenario A total \$223.0 million in the 16-year plan.

Scenario A was based on staffing actual expenses from the 2007 route statements, which includes the impact of vacancies. The consultants revised staffing costs to reflect the full costs of all positions over the 16-year plan period, which resulted in an increase of \$28.7 million.

4. Credit Card Fees

Ferries' Scenario A includes \$29.4 million in bank charges for credit card processing fees. A recent analysis by Ferries⁴⁹ concluded that bank charges are approximately 1 percent of fare revenues. Calculating credit card fees at 1 percent of projected fare revenues results in an increase of \$4.2 million over the 16-year plan.

5. Insurance

Ferries' Scenario A includes \$57.5 million for the marine insurance program,⁵⁰ which was not revised to reflect the new vessels and retirement of older vessels. Based on the recommended fleet, the consultants revised the marine insurance program cost in the 16-year plan to \$53.4 million or a \$4.1 million decrease. The revised costs for the Scenario A fleet would be \$59.9 million or a \$2.4 million increase over the amount included in Scenario A.

6. Reservation Operations

Ferries' Scenario A 16-year financial plan includes \$9.2 million for operations support for the proposed reservation system. This funding included costs that would be borne by WSDOT Information Technology Services (Program C) and would not be charged to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account. The reservation operations funding also included operations costs in the 2009-11 biennium that would not be incurred because the reservation system would not be fully operational. The consultants recommend reducing the reservation operations budget to \$4.1 million in the 16-year plan.

7. Management and Support 16-Year Plan

The recommended management and support cost is reduced by \$84.1 million over the 16-year financial plan. Cost reductions are the result of not charging the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account for other WSDOT division expenses, excluding Program U charges, and re-calculating staff, credit card, insurance, and reservation operations costs. Management and support costs are reduced from 17 percent to 13 percent of total operations costs.

Table 18.

Management and Support Operations Costs Recommended vs. Scenario A

(\$ millions)

	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR	% of Operations
Recommended Staffing Cost	27.5	28.5	29.6	30.8	32.0	33.2	34.5	35.8	251.8	
Scenario A	24.2	25.2	26.2	27.2	28.3	29.4	30.6	31.8	223.0	
Difference	3.3	3.3	3.4	3.5	3.7	3.7	3.8	3.9	28.7	
Recommended Other State Support (WSDOT)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Scenario A	11.7	12.2	12.7	13.2	13.7	14.2	14.8	15.4	107.8	
Difference	-11.7	-12.2	-12.7	-13.2	-13.7	-14.2	-14.8	-15.4	-107.8	

⁴⁹ Decision packages for Ferries' 2009-11 budget include an analysis of credit card fees.

⁵⁰ The marine insurance program is reviewed in the *Management and Support Costs Final Report*, July 2008, pp. 17-21.

	00.44	44.40	40.45	45.47	47.40	40.04	04.00	22.05	1/ \/D	% of
	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 YR	Operations
Recommended Reservation Costs	0.0	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	4.1	
Scenario A	1.0	1.0	1.1	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.3	9.2	
Difference	-1.0	<i>-0.5</i>	<i>-0.5</i>	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.7	<i>-5.1</i>	
Recommended Credit Card Costs	3.2	3.5	3.8	4.0	4.3	4.6	4.9	5.2	33.5	
Scenario A	3.2	3.3	3.5	3.6	3.7	3.9	4.0	4.2	29.4	
<i>Difference</i>	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.9	1.0	4.2	
Recommended Insurance Costs	5.6	6.1	6.3	6.5	6.8	7.1	7.4	7.7	53.4	
Scenario A	6.2	6.5	6.8	7.0	7.3	7.6	7.9	8.2	57.5	
Difference Difference	-0.6	-0.4	<i>-0.5</i>	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	<i>-0.5</i>	<i>-0.5</i>	-4.1	
Recommended Other Costs	23.2	24.2	25.2	26.1	27.1	28.2	29.4	30.5	213.8	
Scenario A	23.2	24.2	25.2	26.1	27.1	28.2	29.4	30.5	213.8	
Difference Difference	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
Recommended Total M&S Operations	59.5	62.7	65.4	68.0	70.8	73.7	76.7	79.9	556.7	13%
Scenario A	69.5	72.4	75.4	78.2	81.3	84.6	88.0	91.4	640.8	17%
Difference	-10.0	-9.7	-10.0	-10.2	-10.5	-10.9	-11.3	-11.6	-84.1	

8. Alternatives

Alternatives to reduce insurance costs and to implement a marketing program are outlined below.

a. Marine Insurance Program

The *Management and Support Costs Final Report*, July 2008, recommends that OFM, WSDOT, and Ferries review the marine insurance program to determine whether it is cost-effective versus being self-insured, including terminal property, hull and machinery, war risk, and liability coverages. An alternative for the legislature to consider is to become self-insured for the property coverages—terminal property and hull and machinery—included in the marine insurance program. As discussed in the *Management and Support Costs Final Report*, claims recovery under the property coverages have totaled \$5.9 million from 1990-2007 or approximately \$350,000 per year (p. 19).

- *Disadvantages:* The state would not have property coverages, which would place Ferries' properties in the same situation as most other state owned properties.
- *Cost Savings:* During the 16-year plan period, \$90.1 million would be saved if property coverages were eliminated from the marine insurance program. It may be necessary to increase funding in WSDOT Risk Management (Program U) to provide for the basic liability coverage. Program U currently pays only for the excess liability coverage.

b. Marketing Program

Ferries has no funding for marketing, yet Scenario A anticipates that Ferries will cover 80 percent of its operations cost from fares by, in part, reversing the decline in ridership. A marketing program, particularly emphasizing increasing off-peak ridership, could help Ferries attain the projected ridership and associated revenues.

•	Cost: Do per year revenue.	in FY	2010	ar plan would	perio	od, a : \$9.3	marketir million	ng p or	rogran 0.3%	n sta of	arting at \$ projected	5500,000 farebox

SECTION VI. RECOMMENDED FINANCIAL PLAN AND POLICIES

This section summarizes the recommended service level and financial plan and recommends three financial policies for the legislature's consideration: creation of a vessel replacement reserve fund; zero basing the 2011-13 biennium operations budget; and adopting a farebox recovery calculation policy.

A. Recommended Service Level

The recommended service level is based on the ridership projections, vehicle level of service standard, and operational and pricing strategies discussed in Section II, and maintains existing sailings on all routes. Vessel auto capacity increases in Scenario A on the Bremerton, Mukilteo, and Fauntleroy-Southworth-Vashon Triangle routes are delayed until the retirement of the Evergreen State class vessels, which is after the 16-year plan period. A smaller vessel is deployed on the Interisland route in the spring, summer and fall than in Scenario A, and the Fauntleroy-Southworth-Vashon route remains a three-vessel route.

B. Capital Finances

As shown in Table 19, the recommended plan has total capital expenses over the 16-year period of \$2,466.2 million with a funding shortfall of \$534.0 million. Of the capital expenses, 48 percent is for vessels, 34 percent for terminals, 9 percent for debt service, 7 percent for administration and indirect costs, and 2 percent for emergency repairs.

C. Operations Finances

As shown in Table 19, the recommended plan has total operations expenses over the 16-year period of \$4,153.3 million with a funding shortfall of \$106.2 million. Of the operations expenses, 70 percent is for vessel operating costs, 17 percent for terminal operations, and 13 percent for management and support costs. Farebox recovery rises in the recommended plan to 83 percent over the 16 years.

88

_

⁵¹ The recommended service level and Scenario A both include restoration of full service to the Port Townsend route, which has been reduced to one-boat service since the retirement of the Steel Electric class of vessels in late 2007.

Table 19.
Recommended Financial Projection

(\$ millions)

Capital Program	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 Yrs.
Revenue*	410.5	327.5	199.3	137.3	209.8	225.4	217.8	204.6	1,932.2
Expenses									
New Vessel Construction	120.2	145.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.0	240.1	514.0
Vessel Preservation	50.3	31.1	67.0	89.8	86.0	87.6	101.5	107.5	620.8
Vessel Improvements	9.0	4.7	5.4	6.1	6.6	7.0	7.5	7.2	53.7
Terminal Preservation	50.7	69.3	55.9	173.2	95.9	129.2	49.3	49.2	672.7
Terminal Improvements	50.5	21.4	20.0	51.0	22.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	165.0
Emergency Repairs	6.3	4.6	4.9	5.2	5.6	6.0	6.4	6.9	46.0
Admin, Support, & Indirect	22.8	20.7	21.1	21.8	22.5	23.4	24.4	25.2	181.9
Debt Service	33.8	31.8	31.8	31.5	31.1	27.8	19.0	5.2	212.1
Total Capital Expenses	343.6	329.4	206.1	378.6	269.8	281.1	216.1	441.4	2,466.2
Capital Surplus or Shortfall	66.9	(1.9)	(6.8)	(241.3)	(60.0)	(55.7)	1.7	(236.8)	(534.0)
Operating Program	09-11	11-13	13-15	15-17	17-19	19-21	21-23	23-25	16 Yrs.
Revenue [*]	432.4	439.0	454.3	476.0	509.4	544.6	578.6	612.8	4,047.1
Expenses									
Fuel (Nov. 2008 forecast)	75.9	93.7	98.8	92.7	92.2	88.8	88.7	90.2	720.9
Non-Fuel Vessel Costs (labor, maintenance)	216.4	238.2	245.9	259.4	274.2	291.1	307.1	321.6	2,153.8
Terminal Costs	68.1	72.7	77.2	85.5	94.4	100.1	106.2	112.8	717.0
Management & Support Costs	59.5	62.7	65.4	68.0	70.8	73.7	76.7	79.9	556.7
OFM Charges for Labor Relations	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	8.0
Marine Employee Commission	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	4.1
Total Operating Expenses	420.3	468.0	488.0	506.1	532.2	554.2	579.3	605.2	4,153.3
Operating Surplus or Shortfall	12.1	(29.0)	(33.7)	(30.1)	(22.8)	(9.6)	(0.7)	7.6	(106.2)
Farebox Recovery**	78%	76%	79%	81%	83%	85%	87%	88%	83%

^{*}Revenue estimates revised by House and Senate Transportation Committee staff to reflect 2008 session 16-year financial plan, capital fund balance, and November farebox and ancillary revenue forecasts. Revenues include direct distribution of gas tax and licenses and permits; administrative transfers from the motor vehicle and multi-modal vehicle accounts; and, in the operations account, farebox, fuel surcharge, and miscellaneous revenues.

D. Financial Policies

1. Vessel Replacement Reserve

The timely replacement of vessels as they come due for retirement is critical to the provision of stable service. As discussed in the *Auto-Passenger Vessel Replacement and Preservation Final Report*, January 2008, the expected service life of a vessel is 60 years. Under the recommended financial plan, commencing with the 2023-25 biennium, Ferries will need to build six (6) 144-auto passenger vessels to replace the retiring Evergreen State class and Super class vessels. Following these replacements Ferries will need to replace the two Jumbo Mark I class vessels (188-auto) and six Issaquah class vessels (124-auto/Sealth 90-auto) between 2031 and 2045.

The consultants recommend that the legislature consider the establishment of a vessel replacement fund that would set aside funds for the periodic replacement of vessels. Such a fund would stabilize, if sufficiently funded, Ferries' finances.

^{**}Farebox recovery is the percentage of operations expenses that are covered by farebox, fuel surcharge, and other associated revenues.

Recommendation #55. The legislature should consider the establishment of a vessel replacement fund that would set aside funds for the periodic replacement of vessels.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

2. Operations Budget – Zero Base

The State of Washington zero bases (i.e., starts with a completely new budget) the capital program budget each biennium. The State uses an incremental approach to budgeting for operations, i.e., starting with the last budget as a base, to develop future budgets. For Ferries, this approach has become very complex as a result of the number and frequency of vessel changes that have occurred since the 2007 retirement of the Steel Electric class vessels. The consultants recommend that the legislature request a zero based Ferries operations budget for the 2011-13 biennium.

Recommendation #56. The legislature should request a zero-based Ferries operations budget for the 2011-13 biennium.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

3. Farebox Recovery

Farebox recovery is a key indicator in setting ferry fares and is often used to compare Ferries' performance to that of other transit agencies. It is, therefore, important that the legislature and the public have a clear understanding of what is included and excluded as costs in the farebox recovery calculation.

The JTC's *Management and Support Costs Final Report*, July 2008, recommended that OFM, WSDOT, and the Legislature agree on a consistent method for calculating farebox recovery. The consultants recommended that only costs charged to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account be included in the calculation of farebox recovery, and that all such costs be included unless directed by the legislature to exclude particular costs. This recommendation would mean that WSDOT Risk Management (Program U) costs, which are not charged to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account, would not be included in the calculation of farebox recovery. In the FY 2007 route statements Program U expenses of \$5.3 million were included in the calculation of farebox recovery. This recommendation would also mean that Marine Employee Commission and OFM charges to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account would be included in the calculation of farebox recovery.

Recommendation #57. The legislature should establish its intent to have farebox recovery calculated on a consistent basis, including only costs charged to the Puget Sound Ferry Operations Account and including all such costs (i.e. Marine Employee Commission and OFM charges) unless specifically excluded by the legislature.

WSDOT Ferries Division Response: Concur

⁵² The legislature has previously directed Ferries to not include security costs in the calculation of farebox recovery.